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Monday, February 25, 2013

--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.

The Board is sitting today in the matter of application EB-2012-0031 submitted by Hydro One Networks Inc. on May 28th, 2012.

Hydro One's application is for changes to its 2013 and 2014 transmission revenue requirement and for changes to the provincial uniform transmission rates charged for electricity transmission to be effective January 1st, 2013 and January 1st, 2014.

The Board approved the settlement agreement on November 8th in this case, which resolved all but one of the issues in dispute; namely, issue number 23:  What is the appropriate level for export transmission rates in Ontario?

Hydro One's current transmission service rate of two dollars per megawatt-hour was subsequently deemed as final as of January 1st, 2013, until such time as the Board makes its decision on the final ETS issue.

And we're sitting today and tomorrow to hear evidence on issue 23 in the context of the Board's direction to the IESO in EB-2010-0002 that it undertake a comprehensive study to identify the range of proposed rates, and the pros and cons associated with each proposed rate.

My name is Paula Conboy and I am the presiding member in this hearing.  Joining me today are Board members Dr. Emad Elsayed and Ms. Cynthia Chaplin.

May I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. ZACHER:  Madam Chair, Glenn Zacher appearing on behalf of the IESO.

MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, Mr. Zacher.

MR. COWAN:  Allan Cowan, Hydro One.  With me today is Naiyu Zhang.

MS. CONBOY:  Good morning.

MR. KING:  Richard King on behalf of APPrO.  With me is the president, Mr. Dave Butters.

MS. CONBOY:  Good morning.

MR. VEGH:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Ms. Chaplin, Dr. Elsayed.  George Vegh for Hydro-Québec Energy Marketing.

MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for -- I'm sorry.

MS. APESTÉGUY-REUX:  Héloïse Apestéguy-Reux on behalf of Hydro-Québec Energy Marketing.

MS. CONBOY:  Good morning.

MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Good morning.

MS. ROBICHEAU:  Sarah Robicheau on behalf of AMPCO.

MS. CONBOY:  Good morning.

MR. CLARK:  Wayne Clark for AMPCO.

MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, Mr. Clark.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, consultant to the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. CONBOY:  Your mic wasn't on, but we know who you are, so that's fine.

MS. GIRVAN:  It is lit up, but I guess it is not working.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. CONBOY:  There's something going on up there.  We will see how we go.  Thank you very much.

The Board issued a decision and procedural order on February 1st, 2013 which establishes the process we were going to use in today's oral hearing.

First, the expert witnesses, the concurrent expert panel, will be sworn in and will be asked to adopt their evidence, and at that time we will deal with any issues regarding their standing as experts in this proceeding.

Each expert or team of experts, in the case of Charles River and Elenchus, will have 15 minutes to make an opening statement in lieu of examination-in-chief led by counsel.

In the opening statement, the witnesses will be expected to summarize their own evidence, summarize their understanding of the evidence of other experts and highlight the main areas of disagreement, where there are, including disagreements of fact, methodology and opinion that are relevant to the resolution by this Board of the outstanding issues.

The CRA witnesses will go first, followed by Navigant and Elenchus witnesses.  Mr. Finkbeiner will also have an opportunity to address the panel with any clarifying statements.

Each party and Board Staff will have an opportunity to cross-examine the witnesses of the concurrent expert panel.  Parties that have sponsored one or more experts will be expected to address their questions only to the opposing experts.

The Board Panel may interject to provide an opportunity for the expert that is not currently being questioned to respond to a particular line of questioning or a particular answer -- particular answers provided as and when the Board determines there is a logical break in the questioning, or where the Board is interested in hearing the other experts' view.

Paragraph 4 of Procedural Order No. 12 contemplated a certain organization and format of cross-examination.  Now, some counsel have indicated that rather than examining each witness separately, they would prefer to put some questions to the expert witnesses concurrently or shortly after the other.

Furthermore, the Panel understands that parties have agreed to some revisions to the hearing plan that was filed with the Board, so that the order and duration of cross-examination is somewhat revised.

Perhaps, Ms. Djurdjevic, you could deal with that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Certainly.

MS. CONBOY:  My apologies for missing you on
appearances.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'm Ljuba Djurdjevic, counsel for Board Staff, and with me on behalf of Board Staff are Harold Thiessen and Neil Mather.

Since the issuance of Procedural Order No. 12 and the filing of the contemplated hearing plan, there were discussions among counsel as to the preferred order and format of cross-examinations.

This is the proposed schedule that we've arrived at as of last night and this morning.  So following the qualification of the expert witnesses and the opening statements of each expert witness, cross-examination will, by APPrO -- first of all, APPrO will cross-examine the CRA expert and have some clarification questions for the IESO witness.

I understand that APPrO has no cross-examination for Elenchus, and counsel for APPrO has indicated his total cross will be about 30 to 45 minutes.

Following APPrO's cross-examination, Board counsel will cross-examine concurrently the CRA and Navigant witnesses, with a few clarification questions for the IESO witness.

I have a separate examination for Elenchus.  The total of all of my cross-examination is expected to be no more than 60 minutes.

After that, VECC will cross-examine mainly -- I understand mainly the CRA expert, with some questions for the IESO witness, and then a few questions for the Navigant and Elenchus experts.

Mr. Buonaguro indicated his cross in total will be about 90 minutes, if I've got that right.

Following VECC cross-examination, Hydro-Québec, HQEM, will cross-examine the CRA witness, and I don't know if Mr. Vegh was going to cross-examine the Navigant witness, but he indicated only about 15 minutes, about, for his total cross-examination.

AMPCO will then follow, but I did not have a response from AMPCO as to its duration or preferred format.  Initially they reserved 75 minutes.  And SEC will also cross-examine the expert panel for about 30 minutes, and, finally -- that's for all of the experts, and, finally, CME, also total cross-examination for all experts about 30 minutes.

If I have missed anybody, please speak up.  Following all of the cross-examinations on any -- there will be re-examination by any counsel that needs to clarify their expert's evidence.

So that is the road map.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  Do the parties have anything to add to the suggested order or timing?  No.

Although the Board is allowing all parties to cross-examine the expert witnesses, the Board expects the parties to please coordinate their efforts in order to avoid duplication.

When the examination of the expert panel is complete, the APPrO panel, comprised of Mr. Laurin, who will be here tomorrow, will be subject to cross-examination.

As is customary in Board proceedings, the Board Panel may ask questions at any time and may intervene with respect to procedural orders or other issues in order to conduct a fair hearing and to elicit the information it needs in respect of the issues to be decided.

Before we begin, are there any preliminary matters?  Thank you very much.  So I think the witnesses could be sworn in, please.
CONCURRENT EXPERT PANEL


Ira Harvey Shavel, Sworn


Andy Baziliauskas, Sworn

Darren Finkbeiner, Sworn


Cliff William Hamal, Sworn


Michael Roger, Affirmed


John Douglas Todd, Affirmed


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Zacher?
Examination on Qualifications by Mr. Zacher:

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  So I just have some qualifying questions for the CRA witnesses.

Dr. Shavel, if I could start with you, I understand you are an energy economist with over 30 years' experience in the energy industry, and you are currently with the Brattle Group, based in Washington DC, although during the term of this engagement, you were with CRA; is that correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And you have a PhD in mathematics from the State University of New York?

DR. SHAVEL:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  Your experience is largely set out in your CV, which has been filed, but includes experience with CRA as vice president, where for the last 10 years you led development of the national energy and environmental model, or the NEEM model, which is the model that was used in this engagement; is that correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  That is.

MR. ZACHER:  And you have, in addition to experience with development and application of the NEEM model, you have general broad experience in the development of models for North American power systems?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And you've authored and published a number of articles and papers on power system operations and modelling?

DR. SHAVEL:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And you have, lastly, been accepted as an expert witness and testified before a number of tribunals, including this Board and the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, I have.

MR. ZACHER:  Madam Chair, Panel, I would propose to have Dr. Shavel accepted and qualified as an energy economist, with specific expertise in the development of models for North American power systems.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Does anybody have any questions for Dr. Shavel?

MR. VEGH:  Madam Chair, I did have some questions for both of the CRA witnesses, not so much on the qualifications but on the scope of the -- of what their qualifications relate to, the topic, the subject matter of it.

So it might be helpful if the other witnesses were introduced, as well, and then I would just have a few questions for both of them.

MS. CONBOY:  Would you like to do that, Mr. Zacher?

MR. ZACHER:  That's fine, yes.

Dr. Baziliauskas, you are an economist with CRA, based in Toronto?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's right.

MR. ZACHER:  And you have an MA and a PhD in economics from the University of Western Ontario?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And your experience, as well, is set out in your CV, which has been filed, but your CV indicates that you have been a principal with CRA since 2005?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Right.

MR. ZACHER:  And before that, you were with LECG for five years, and prior to that were, for five years, with the Competition Bureau, where you were the coordinator of enforcement, economics and senior economist?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Right.  I think it was seven years at the competition bureau, but that is otherwise right.

MR. ZACHER:  You also have specific work experience in the energy sector?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Right.

MR. ZACHER:  And have published and lectured on matters relating to the energy sector and power markets?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Right.

MR. ZACHER:  And as well have been qualified as an expert and delivered expert reports in litigation-related matters?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Right.

MR. ZACHER:  Madam Chair, Panel, I would propose to qualify Dr. Baziliauskas as an economist with experience in the electricity sector.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Zacher.

Mr. Vegh, you have questions for Dr. Shavel and Dr. Baziliauskas?
Cross-Examination on Qualifications by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I do.  And as I indicated, I am not challenging their expertise and the subject matters of energy economics for Dr. Shavel.  Rather a general statement on what the expertise is for Dr. Baziliauskas.  I'm not challenging that either, but it is helpful, I think, to just clarify the scope of what is and is not included in their evidence.

I think the simplest way to do that, witnesses, it is if you could turn to a response to an interrogatory provided to you by my client, HQEM.  The reference is Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 6.04, HQ 4.  So it is HQEM Interrogatory No. 4.

MS. CONBOY:  Have you got it before you?

DR. SHAVEL:  We do.

MR. VEGH:  Do you have that?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  I think the interrogatory is the best way to refer to it, because it does have an excerpt from your evidence.

Your evidence indicates that you've prepared or you have assessed proposed options, and I am quoting now:

"... on the basis of conformance with generally accepted ratemaking principles."

Then you identify what those principles are.

And the interrogatory asks you, in sub Roman numeral ii, to provide some support for the statement on what are generally accepted ratemaking principles.

And your response to the interrogatory is that these ratemaking principles were identified in the IESO RFP for this study.

Have I characterized that fairly, that exchange?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's right.  Yes.

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  So it is fair to say that the IESO developed what you're describing as these principles and then you took them as a given?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  So your evidence has not offered an opinion on what are generally accepted ratemaking principles?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's correct.

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  And in sub questions iv and v in this interrogatory, you are asked to provide comments on regulatory principles, as put forward by the authorities Bonbright and Khan.  And effectively, your answers to those questions is that those issues are out of scope for your retainer and for your evidence; is that fair?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's right.

MR. VEGH:  And as I read your CVs, is it fair to say that you are not experts on ratemaking principles?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I'm not.

DR. SHAVEL:  And I'm not, either.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Vegh.

Are there any other questions for the witnesses before we move on?

Thank you.  I believe -- Mr. King, would you like to qualify your expert?

MR. KING:  Sure.
Examination on Qualifications by Mr. King:


MR. KING:  Mr. Hamal, your CV is attached as attachment 1 to the report that you filed as evidence in this proceeding on October 1st, 2012; is that correct?

MR. HAMAL:  That's right.

MR. KING:  And you have been involved in the electricity sector in the US and Canada since the early 1980s in both technical roles and economic roles; is that correct?

MR. HAMAL:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  And since 1996, you have been a consultant specializing in economic issues, initially with LECG and then in the past couple of years with Navigant; is that correct?

MR. HAMAL:  That's right.

MR. KING:  And your expertise, broadly speaking, would be in the areas of electricity, trading, market design, generation asset valuation, competition strategy, and damages assessment; is that broadly correct?

MR. HAMEL:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  Then you have provided evidence before this Board before, as well as on a number of occasions before FERC, as well as before United States and Canadian courts on electricity matters; correct?

MR. HAMEL:  That's right.

MR. KING:  Madam Chair, I would propose to have Mr. Hamal qualified as an expert in economic issues in the electricity industry.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. King.  Are there any questions of the expert witness?  Mr. Vegh?
Cross-Examination on Qualifications by Mr. Vegh:

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Mr. Hamal, I will ask you the same question I asked the other witnesses.  Is it fair to say that you are not giving expert evidence today on generally accepted rate-making principles?

MR. HAMEL:  That's true.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Are there any other questions?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Madam Chair, not a question, but just in terms of keeping track of the exhibits, we would like to make the Navigant report an exhibit at this point with the résumé attached, if Mr. King is agreeable to that, and that will be Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  NAVIGANT REPORT AND RÉSUMÉ OF MR. HAMEL.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Okay.  So we have Mr. Vegh.  Would you like to qualify your witnesses, please?

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  We did file electronically CVs for both Mr. Todd and Mr. Roger.  Perhaps we can mark them formally as exhibits.  I provided hard copies to Board counsel.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mr. Vegh, did you want to mark just the CVs as an exhibit or with the report, as well?

MR. VEGH:  I would like to mark the report and the CVs.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.2.

MR. VEGH:  The report is 1.2?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And we will make the -- with the CVs of John Todd and Michael Roger.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  HQEM REPORT AND CVS OF MR. TODD AND MR. ROGER.

MR. VEGH:  The report and CVs together all K1.2?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  If that is all right.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Just before you proceed, just to clarify, we do have the CVs of Dr. Shavel and Dr. Baziliauskas who came in -- it came in via e-mail last week, but if you could help me from -- save me from looking at it, looking at the report, were they also included in the report?

MR. ZACHER:  I believe those were updated CVs, and the report itself was included as part of Hydro One's prefiled evidence.  I don't believe that needs to be marked as an exhibit.

MS. CONBOY:  You're right.  I don't think the report does, but I was wondering about the CVs.

MR. ZACHER:  It would be helpful, yes.

MS. CONBOY:  Perhaps even though they are out of order, we could mark the CVs of those two expert witnesses, please.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  We will make that Exhibit K1.3, and maybe get just a printout of the updated CVs just for the record.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  UPDATED CVS OF DR. SHAVEL AND DR. BAZILIAUSKAS.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Go ahead, Mr. Vegh.
Examination on Qualifications by Mr. Vegh:

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Panel, I think the simplest way to do this, as I have indicated, we have provided more detailed CVs, but if I could just direct you to the prefiled evidence, we provide a brief summary of your expertise.  That might be a more efficient way to get through this.

So I would like to have you turn, please, to Exhibit K1.2, which is the Elenchus prefiled evidence.  At page 2 in the final paragraph, starting at line 18, if you have that?

MR. ROGER:  Yes, I have.

MR. VEGH:  The evidence indicates that you have both been experts dealing with cost allocation, rate design and rate regulation for over 30 years.  Could you confirm that, please?

MR. ROGER:  That's correct.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And you have both given expert evidence before this and other regulatory tribunals on rate issues?

MR. ROGER:  I have in front of this Board.

MR. TODD:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  And turning over to the next page, this describes what your evidence is about, and if I could ask you to go down to line 17, you refer to generally accepted regulatory principles; is that correct?

MR. ROGER:  That's correct.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  Madam Chair, I would like to offer Mr. Todd and Mr. Roger as -- I'm sorry, Mr. Roger and Mr. Todd as experts in the principles and practices related to generally accepted rate-making principles.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.  Are there any questions for the two witnesses?  Okay, thank you very much.

So we will move on to the portion of the proceeding where we will have the experts provide an opening statement.

Dr. Shavel and Dr. Baziliauskas, I am not sure if one of you is designated as the spokesperson for this or if you are going to share that pleasure.  Please go ahead.

DR. SHAVEL:  I was going to.

MR. ZACHER:  Madam Chair, if I might just interrupt for one moment?

MS. CONBOY:  Yes, Mr. Zacher.

MR. ZACHER:  I believe Dr. Shavel and Dr. Baziliauskas are going to refer to a hard copy of some PowerPoint slides that they prepared for the purpose of their opening statement.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. ZACHER:  That was circulated this morning, but I just wanted to confirm you had it, and it should probably be marked as an exhibit, as well.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  POWERPOINT PRESENTATION PREPARED BY DR. SHAVEL AND DR. BAZILIAUSKAS.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Mr. Zacher, I was moving a little too quickly.  We have that.  Please go ahead.
Evidence-In-Chief by Dr. Shavel:

DR. SHAVEL:  Okay, thank you.  Thank you very much.  In December 2011, the IESO engaged Charles River Associates to take a review of ETS options for Ontario.

The direction we had from the Board was for a comprehensive study to identify a range of proposed rates and the pros and cons associated with each proposed rate.

We looked at -- we reviewed export tariffs and structures in neighbouring markets, and that was actually a separate report from the main report.  There were two reports.  We quantified the effects of each export tariff on a number of specific market outcomes, such as the HOEP, imports, exports, ETS revenue and SBG, and we quantified the impact of the options on three components, specific components:  On consumer surplus, in other words Ontario ratepayer bills - that was our definition of consumer surplus; profits of Ontario generators; and a third component that we will -- I will discuss at a bit of length coming up, intertie congestion revenue, which abbreviated here is ICR.

We also quantified regional production cost impacts as a measure of regional efficiency overall, and then we assessed, in a qualitative way, the options based on rate-making principles of consistency, simplicity, fairness and efficiency.

We had a stakeholdering process that began in January of 2012 before we actually began the analysis.  We provided an explanation of the model and assumptions to stakeholders.  We had a January 22nd meeting last year, of course, and provided an opportunity for stakeholders to provide input on parameters and methodology.

And before we finalized the report in June - so a month before, approximately - we had a stakeholder -- stakeholders had an opportunity to ask questions and provide inputs.

In response to issues raised and questions raised in May of 2012, we did additional analyses of the ETS tariffs without the assumption that Ontario would join the WCI, and we also responded to additional questions for information, requests for information.

Stakeholders who participated in the process were APPrO, Hydro-Québec, AMPCO and CCC.

We used NEEM, which Mr. Zacher has already mentioned, the North American Electricity and Environment Model.  It is a linear programming model.  It is used quite frequently.  We analyzed 2013, 2015 and 2017, as was our mandate.  The model minimizes total production costs subject to meeting environmental constraints and other constraints, principally constraints on renewable portfolio standards in the US that would be effective -- affect here.

We looked at five tariff alternatives, which was:  The status quo, two-dollar tariff; unilateral elimination, a zero tariff; a five-dollar tariff, which is the effective average network charge, $5.80, actually; and then two tiered tariffs.  One was $3.50 -- sorry, one was five dollars on peak, zero off, so the EANC on and zero off, and the other was 3.50 on and a dollar off.

So our objective, our role, was to prepare a comprehensive study that would assist the Board and other parties in deciding upon a preferred tariff.

To carry out this mandate, we estimated Ontario market efficiency as the change in consumer producer surplus.  In the process of going through the components and thinking about the needs, the various changes, we also identified what I just referred to as intertie congestion revenue, which, for purposes of discussion right now – though I think later we'll probably get into some detail about its relationship to ICP - the intertie congestion revenue we calculated is similar to the intertie congestion rent that the ISO calculates as part of its TR payout for
-- to TR holders.

And we didn't allocate the ICR to either consumers or producers, because we understand historically that it has largely been paid out to TR holders, not to consumers.


The IESO may redesign the TR market; that is under discussion now, but we can't predict what the new design will look like once it evolves.

And as indicated, the allocation of the ICR is relevant principally in 2013, where the changes are significant, in our analysis.  They're not particularly significant in 2015 or 2017.

So the three components were:  Changes in consumer surplus.  Again, changes in consumer bills, which were cost of energy, adjusted for global adjustment.  We took that into account.

Transmission service, so the ETS revenue that comes in is an offset to the rates, the transmission service part of the bill.

And uplift charge is another offset.

We measured producer surplus, which is the change in the producer's net income.  This is primarily the OPG non-prescribed hydro.

And finally, the intertie congestion revenue component is the difference between our measure in the modelling of neighbouring markets' wholesale price, less HOEP, minus transaction costs, which are the tariff, ETS tariff in the scenario, an assumed number for the average uplift charge, which we use a historical $3.33, and a friction charge, which is an amount that we -- that we've assumed and evaluated as a minimum margin that the marketers will require and reflects inefficiencies between markets, Seams charges, which I think is something we will get into during the course of the discussion today.

We did a calibration, and the table shown here on page 7 are the calibration results.  In the report, we talked about percents; I thought it would be useful in this context to talk about absolute magnitudes.

So in our modelling of 2011 - we went back and modelled 2011 - we found that we were low by about 3.6 terawatt-hours in overall generation.  Our imports were somewhat high by 0.4 terawatt-hours and our exports were low by 2.8 terawatt-hours.  And the HOEP was low by $1.13 on average over the year.

So this gave us confidence in our results, and proceeding and moving forward we did a lot of work on the calibration.  Don't forget that what we are measuring in our analysis is the difference between the status quo and the other tariffs.  We're not measuring absolute values; we're measuring differences.  That was the design of our study.

Okay.  So the idea of the calibration was to make sure that our model could replicate history.  And in doing so, we used historical factors such as fuel prices, actual generation of nuclear, and everything else that we could reasonably nail down, the system load for the year.  So we tried to match history.

One of the factors that we did not try to match was the actual coal generation.  We understand that the -- during 2011, the coal generation was largely due to the ISO instructing coal units to run, not totally, but in large part due to the ISO instructing coal units to run for reliability and other purposes.  So they would often run out of merit.

In our analysis, we found that the coal generation was too low.  Because economics dictated that gas run before coal, because there was a relatively high coal cost and low gas prices; in particular, low gas prices.

So what I would like to note here was that the coal was actually low by 3.8 terawatt-hours, which is approximately the difference you see in the total generation on the top line of the chart.

That meant that there was less energy in Ontario, in our analysis, to export, hence it moved exports down.  It also provided an incentive in the modelling for more imports because there was less native generation in the province.  And also, more output from coal that was particularly fixed by the requirement for reliability would have suppressed the HOEP.

And so directionally, that would have improved all of the numbers you see in the table on the top of page 7.

On SBG, in the months where there was significant SBG, we found SBG.  We didn't find SBG in every month, though it did occur in every month in 2012.

In some months, particularly for example September, it was only one hour.  In some months, August, it was actually quite significant.  It was 88 hours, and of those 88 hours, 64 of those were actually nuclear shutdowns.  So this was, you know, very significant.

In response to APPrO 2, we noted that the average export during those 64 hours was 178 megawatts.  And it actually ranged from an import, overall import into the province to export.  So it was a wide range.  It averaged 178 megawatts out, which is relatively little.

And also during those periods, coal was running, which would not have happened in our analysis.  There was about 505 megawatts average generation by coal units, which would tend to exacerbate the SBG.

So the fact that we didn't force coal units to run resulted in the additional -- less SBG, in our analysis.

The reason we didn't perform additional analysis of the coal units was twofold.  One was it would have been difficult to actually force the model, our modelling, to have that actual coal output pattern.  And since whatever that pattern was it would not carry forward, there's about half the amount of coal in 2013 as there was in 2011, and by 2015 there won't be any.

We wouldn't have forced that going forward.  It wouldn't really inform our modelling going forward.  We just didn't take that extra step and expense to do that analysis.

So we, again, on the efficiency results, we measure consumer surplus, we measure producer surplus.  And in our case, we separate the two.  We report producer surplus as a separate category.  We don't - as Mr. Hamal would like us to do, or thinks that it should be accrued to consumers - we don't disagree that eventually the producer surplus which goes to OPG will, to some extent and in the long run, accrue to consumers of electricity in the province, but probably not in direct proportion to their usage.  We simply keep it separate.

On the other component of ICR, intertie congestion revenue, it is not -- we don't agree with Mr. Hamal that that should go to consumers.  It is a complicated issue.  And we keep it separate.  I am sure we will be discussing that more as the day goes on.

I think in the interests of time, if we turn to the chart on page 12, it is the -- it's the bar chart.  I can summarize our results at a high level.

You can see from the chart the first thing you notice is that the largest -- the red bars is the total surplus.  So we did measure total surplus as the sum of consumer surplus, producer surplus, and the ICR, changes thereof, actually.  So everything is a change from the status quo.

So the elimination of the tariff going from $2, the current tariff, to zero, results in, in all cases in all years, a reduction in consumer surplus.  Why is that?  It is because that reduction in the HOEP results in more exports, the more exports results in a higher HOEP, and that comes back to customers, particularly class A customers, and reduces consumer surplus.  Their costs are higher.

On the other hand, that same reduction in tariff pushes up the producer surplus because the OPG non-prescribed hydro does better.

So you see the offsetting effects, and then there is also the intertie congestion revenue, which is also positive with the elimination, because there is more congestion; more exports, more pressure on the interties, more congestion.  So you can see those light green bars go up.

And you can also see across here that the equivalent average network rate, the opposite occurs.  When the charge for exports goes up, consumers are helped by a lower HOEP, producers are hurt by a lower HOEP, and the net effect, particularly in 2013, where most of the differences occur, is an overall negative when you add all three components together.

You can see the two tier A and the two tier B results are much -- generally, much smaller than the elimination.  And they're in between, so it makes sense that they're smaller.

The only other comment I have on this page is that in 2015 and 2017, our measure, total producer surplus, is fairly small in those years.  There are large swings in producer and consumer surplus that largely offset, and the intertie congestion revenue doesn't change very much, and it is all fairly small.  It is not -- not trivial, but it is small.

And I will close with a few notes, comments, about SBG, if I might.  It has been noted that in NEEM we assumed -- in the modelling we assumed that exports during the lowest load hours of each month - we model monthly - were limited to 3,000 megawatts; that is, the total exports from the province would not exceed 3,000 megawatts.  This accounted for 20 to 30 hours.

This is close to the maximum that occurred in 2011, which was a little under 3,500 megawatts, and it is well above the average of 1,800 megawatts during manoeuvres.  During shutdown periods, the average export is actually lower, because during a shutdown, when the nuclear plant is shut down, there is, then, less power to export.

So we thought this seemed to us a fairly conservative number, but we recognize that there are other factors that are reducing the exports from the province that are hard to quantify, and we don't know what they are exactly.  We discuss some of them in the report.

So we made this assumption, and we find that across the scenarios, between -- when we vary from the status quo to reducing the tariff to increasing the tariff, to the two-tiered tariffs, we see no change in the amount of SBG.  The charts I showed earlier are essentially the same for all scenarios.

We also did a scenario where we -- a sensitivity where we put the limit at 6,444 megawatts.  That is the sum of all of the ties going out.  That is the non-simultaneous export limit from Ontario, a level that is never reached.

We did that to see whether we would see a different result.  We saw less SBG, because there is much more opportunity to export, but we didn't see a variation between the scenarios.

Now, fundamentally in our modelling what we find is that during SBG hours, there's a significant separation in prices between Ontario, the HOEP and exporting markets.

When we looked at what actually happened in 2011, we found a similar pattern.  We found that during hours of SBG, there appeared to be large, significant price separations between the HOEP and the wholesale price outside the province.

So this is another indication that there are non-price factors that effectively limit the ability of marketers to sell outside the province to take advantage of these price separations.

And on page 15, I have a table that is actually similar to Mr. Hamal's table 4, I believe it is, or figure 4.

What this shows is the difference between the price, the average price difference, between New York zone A, the first part of the table, during all hours of 2011 and the HOEP, and that was $6.21.

Our measure of transaction costs, again the ETS of $2 which is in effect, $3.33 for uplift and $3.00 for our assumption for a friction charge, results in an average price of -- an average loss of $2.12.

Some of the hours -- during some of these hours, power was actually flowing -- the price separation was negative.  In other words, the HOEP was higher than the price in New York.  So the numbers are difficult to interpret.

But when we look just at the SBG hours, the hours during which there were SBG, that average price difference rose to 18.37, which net of these costs was about $10.00.

So it appears that there were opportunities to trade that probably couldn't be taken.  I wouldn't say weren't taken.  They probably couldn't be taken for some reason, because of the way the markets work.

Also during the same calculation done for PJM West, the western hub, which is in Maryland and West Virginia primarily, the price differences there were 3.33 negative
- 3.32, sorry - or $15.33 during SBG hours.  And when we looked at going to AEP, which would be going through Michigan, wheeling through Michigan, we found there was minus 12 cents, so about zero, but $20.69 during SBG hours.

So that concludes the statement we have prepared.  Thank you very much.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Now, the procedural order did allow you for some understanding -- summarizing of the understanding of the evidence prepared by the other expert witnesses.

You had mentioned in your opening statement an area where Mr. Hamal had taken a position and you had not.

Is there -- are there any other areas that you would like to highlight at this point between either your understanding of the other two pieces of evidence we have before us or areas of misunderstanding?
Comment

DR. SHAVEL:  I think, I mean, with Mr. Hamal, the main point of difference in his interpretation of our numbers is the allocation -- is the adding up of the three components, which we did do in our report, too, but we don't -- we don't assign all of that to consumers.

That's the main difference, is that we add them up, the three components, but Mr. Hamal would argue that all that accrues to consumers.

That's I think the main difference.  There were issues about calibration, which we will probably get into.  We feel our calibration was good and robust.  Mr. Hamal thinks that it could have been improved.  I think he will probably tell you that.


And the -- we don't have really any opinion on the cost causation issues, so the Elenchus testimony is not really an area we cover.  Oh, okay.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I can add two other differences between our analyses and Mr. Hamal's.  One we already touched on, which is the effect of export tariffs on exports during surplus baseload generation events.

So as I already described, we find that changes in the -- so changes in the tariff that we study imply relatively small changes in the net costs of exporting from Ontario, so if you add up, you know, the price of energy and all of the other costs.

So those are relatively small changes in the cost of procuring energy to an exporter.

We find that for the reasons that I already discussed, those relatively small changes don't have any impact on exports during SBG periods.  And Mr. Hamal, I believe he believes that that analysis is incorrect.

So I already described sort of what we did.  There was the significant price separation even during SBG periods which ranged from -- you know, in the real world in 2011, ranged from whatever it was.  You know, after you net out costs, it was $10.00 to $16.00, $10.00 to $20.00.

In the model, we found -- for 2013, 2015, 2017, we found that in the model there was significant price separation, which indicates to us that there are non-technical barriers and technical barriers to executing trades in SBG periods.  And we found that relatively small changes in the cost of exporting because of changes in the tariff that we considered would not have an impact on incentives to export during SBG periods.

I understand that Mr. Hamal would -- I don't want to put words in his mouth, but I think he essentially would say -- I'm sure he will correct me if I'm misinterpreting what he says, but I think he would argue that to the extent that -- so he would argue that we underestimated the export responsiveness to changes in the tariff during SBG periods. And to the extent that we did that, that underestimates the cost of reducing -- sorry, the benefits to Ontario of reducing the tariff, that there is no quantification of that effect.

The other -- I think the other difference that Ira didn't touch upon, I think that Mr. Hamal doesn't believe that we modelled trading accurately.  We have a deterministic model which doesn't have any uncertainty in it, which is a common -- a common practice in economics.

I do a lot of economic modelling.  I am primarily a competition economist.  I use a lot of deterministic models, understanding that the real world has a lot of uncertainties, but it is a model.  It doesn't have all real world features in it, and the question to us is whether it omits real world features that would affect the results in a material way.

And so Mr. Hamal, I think, would argue that our omission of uncertainty, our lack of explicitly modelling trader strategies -- which we don't do -- in some sense biases the results.

We don't agree with that.  We think what we have done is very common.  We use a deterministic model in a world with uncertainty.  We don't think our results are biased.  We don't model traders explicitly.  We don't model traders' strategies explicitly, which is also very common in economic modelling.  But if you think back to your Economics 101 textbooks, you see a supply curve and a demand curve.  You don't see consumers, you don't see the identities of suppliers.  You see a supply-demand curve, and those two -- those two curves represent sort of the outcomes of behaviours of a bunch of individuals in the economy.

And that is what we have done in this model.  So we haven't modelled uncertainty, we haven't modelled individual actors.  What we have done is very common, and we have done backup analysis to indicate -- that suggests to us that our deterministic approach is appropriate.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Finkbeiner, we are going to get back -- circle back to you at the end with any clarifying questions -- or comments, rather.

Mr. Hamal, would you like to go ahead?
Evidence-In-Chief by Mr. Hamal:

MR. HAMAL:  Sure.  If we could call up my PowerPoint presentation with the opening statement --


MR. KING:  I think we will have to give an exhibit to the hearing compendium which was filed on Friday.  There is a couple of things.  One is the hearing compendium, which is meant to provide a brief outline of Mr. Hamal's opening statement.  It also contains some materials we will use on cross-examination and some illustrations that Mr. Hamal will use during his opening statement.

Then the other –- and that was filed on Friday.  Then the other item is a one-pager, which you would have received this morning.  And at the top, it is identified as:  "Confidential information, NEEM model prices."

This would have been filed as part of tab 2 in the hearing compendium, but we were unsure as to whether it was, in fact, confidential, whether CRA would consider the data confidential.  It is essentially an aggregation of data that came from an IR response that CRA gave during the course of the proceeding.

And we understand now that they don't consider the aggregation and the data on this table as confidential.

So this can be filed either as one single exhibit or two.  It doesn't matter.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. King.

Let's file it as two separate exhibits, but note that the second one does belong under tab number 2.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So for the hearing compendium, that will be Exhibit K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  HEARING COMPENDIUM.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And then the document entitled "NEEM model prices," that will be K1.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.6:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED:  "NEEM MODEL PRICES," PART OF TAB 2 OF EXHIBIT K2.5.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And I will indicate on the record that is intended to be part of tab 2 of Exhibit K1.5, even though it is a separate exhibit.  Okay.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Ms. Djurdjevic.

Mr. Hamal?

MR. HAMAL:  Yes.  Could we call up that PowerPoint?  I don't know what the protocol here is, but I would like to be able to address the evidence in the PowerPoint that CRA just provided.  But I didn't get a copy at any point.  I don't know if it is possible, so I could look at the data that everyone has been talking about.

MS. CONBOY:  Have we got an extra copy for Mr. Hamal?

[Mr. King passes copy to Mr. Hamal]


MR. HAMAL:  And 15 short minutes doesn't provide a lot of time to summarize all of the things that we looked at in this case.  I want to hit the high points, of course, but I want to use this time as an opportunity to focus in on areas where I think there is the greatest chance of confusion.

My goal is to try to assist the Board throughout this day by specifying some things that I think benefit from, you know, stepping back and just explaining some things to make sure we don't get lost in them.

And then I am sure through the rest of the questions we can get into more details as we go.

The four major items are listed on the PowerPoint slide that I plan on going through.

The first is the relationship of my conclusions to the CRA modelling.  There is a lot of issues and it is easy to focus on where we find differences, but I want to make sure the Board is not confused.  CRA has done a comprehensive analysis, using tools that are often used in the industry.  It's the only comprehensive analysis that has been done in this case.  I use it.  I look at it.  I respect it.  I am not trying to discount it in its entirety.

I do think it is worth stepping back and seeing whether there are shortcomings in the analysis.  I find several.  I think we can look at what the implications of those shortcomings are, to further inform our opinion on what we should do as far as setting a tariff.

We will get into those, but I want to take this chance now to say -- to make sure that, you know, it is not a case of this is of no value and we want to just throw it out.  That is not what I'm arguing about.

I reach the conclusion that the tariff should be reduced.  That provides the greatest benefit to Ontario.

I also look at how that relates to consumers, which is the second major item that is here.  Obviously, the consumer surplus and CRA calculate that goes to consumers.

The second category is the producer surplus.  Normally that is thought of as a separate category and it is a separate category here.  It is just that in Ontario's unique structure it is a little bit different, in that it goes entirely to an entity, OPG, and their non-prescribed assets who -- you know, and they're provincially owned.  At the long run, and I heard Dr. Shavel say this in his opening statement, that will go to consumers, either through, I would assume, possibly retiring stranded debt, possibly affecting rate cases for the regulated part of OPG in the future, possibly through the equity owner, the province and its taxpayers.

It is not direct.  It's not immediate.  But as we look at non-zero-sum pie, we have an opportunity here to make things better for Ontario or not as good for Ontario.  I think recognizing that that piece that goes to the producers as OPG does accrue in some way to consumers themselves.  And it is not the same as if that was issued to –- on the Toronto Stock Exchange to dividends, and go we don't know where.  That is the second item.

The third item is the one that is going to confuse everyone, and I respect that.  It is the intertie congestion rents and revenues.

My first caution is we need to be real careful today - Dr. Shavel was - in defining and understanding, when we talk about rents and revenues, they are two closely related but different things.

And there is an issue with each one of them that we need to overcome or understand in order to reach the conclusion that this money that they've left as an independent pot of money that is not going anywhere, that the best estimate of where the lion's share of that is going to go or all of that is going to most likely go is to consumers.

Let's start by looking at the rents.  The rents is what the IESO collects for this congestion today.  This is the real world money.

Last week, the board of the IESO acknowledged in response to feedback from the Market Surveillance Panel and an inquiry from the Ontario Energy Board - at least that is how I put these pieces together - that they're going to issue $42 million of this money back to customers over the next year.

They've issued money before.  Every other market that has this kind of dynamic creates this kind of money and passes it back to consumers.  They're the only likely candidate.  Producers don't have recall on this money.  There will be an issue about whether that goes to transmission rights owners, and certainly on a year-by-year basis, this is an insurance to protect against the uncertainty of how much goes to transmission rights owners, but every other market doesn't run these auctions to try to create extra wealth for transmission rights owners.  They recognize that the nature of how this market works creates this pot of money, and over the long run, you want to pass it on to consumers.

I think that is the reasonable assumption here, especially when we're talking about the change in congestion rents, the change in rents that result from this analysis.

Now, the second part of this is the revenues, and I would like to call up the slide 3.  In our joint statement, we spent some time putting this package -- this chart together.  The next one, please.

I'm not going to take the time, in the short few minutes we have now, to go through this in detail, but this shows how the market works when there is congestion, in which case there is no price difference, and we don't have -- the markets work in equilibrium.

As Dr. Shavel said, this model does perfectly optimize in a deterministic fashion, so you don't have any price difference.  But when there is congestion, there is this price difference that naturally happens.

The model creates this intertie congestion revenue.  The revenue, when you hear that word, it means a number that comes out of the CRA analysis.

So the question is:  How does that relate to the money that really goes to the IESO?  I think the only reasonable assumption is that's our best guess.  That's how this model works.

The issue that has been raised, and we'll hear more about, is whether perhaps traders will take a bigger piece of that.  Maybe in the real world -- maybe in this model, we should give some of that to them.

There is no estimate of that.  There is no theory behind how we would figure that out.  Everything else in this model assumes traders and generators performing in an efficient manner.  They're a deterministic efficient manner.  We shouldn't deviate from that here.

The consistent assumption with interpreting all of the rest of the analysis is people behave in a direct, rational, competitive fashion, and if you apply that same characteristic to this specific narrow issue, you reach the conclusion that all of that revenue goes to the IESO as rents, and it's a natural outcome of this model.

So this third pot of money -- I would like to go back to slide 2, if we could.  This is the summary of the analysis presented in the joint statement.  We organized a number to make sure there was no confusion about how these numbers should be interpreted.  There is no dispute about these.

I'm going to focus on the no tariff 2013 number.  We have -- CRA has calculated the consumer surplus, intertie congestion revenue, and producer surplus.

The total benefit to Ontario of cutting the tariff to zero in this analysis is 17-1/2 million dollars.  That's value we can create for Ontario.

I think the fact that the intertie congestion revenue should be accredited to the consumers, because it has to go somewhere and that is where it makes sense and that is how the market is structured generally for where it should go, that alone puts us in a positive area; and also treatment of the producer surplus should be added in, because it is largely going to end up toward consumers in the long run.

I focus on 2013, and I am moving now to my next major point, because I think that is the number we should focus on today.  We're talking about a tariff for today.  Obviously the future spools out, you know, for decades, but the rates for today, in a market where there are changes that are going to take place with nuclear refurbishment and other items down the road, we should do what makes sense today.

CRA agreed, and it is in our joint statement, that in 2014 that's best estimated by our 2013 results.  You don't split the difference.  There is -- the reason is because, in 2015, there are some major changes.  But for 2013 and 2014, that number which I am pointing you to, the 17-1/2 million dollars, is the right outcome according to their analysis.

If we do look a little bit further into the future, we get to the 2015 year.  A key assumption in that year is the Western Climate Initiative will be adopted in Ontario.  Ontario will have a carbon price of $28.00.  That was the assumption that was made, and that is what led to that result.

I don't believe that is a reasonable base case, given what we know today about the Western Climate Initiative.

If we could turn to page 4, and I jump down -- and 2013 is the same, because this is the non-WCI scenario, and it is summarized in the joint statement, putting these numbers in a place we could add them all up together.

The no-tariff case goes to a positive $4 million without carbon prices.  Why do we want to do that?  Right now Ontario is not putting the framework in place to set up a carbon trading mechanism.  We are a year after these assumptions were originally made and no progress has been made.

The Western Climate Initiative, in general, is in retreat.  California is the only state going forward in the United States.  There are no other states that are part of it.  There are Canadian provinces, Quebec, British Columbia and Ontario, that are affiliated with it.  As far as I know, no one is moving forward to adopt their specific carbon trading mechanism itself.

And, lastly, we now have some data on what the carbon price is.  California ran its first auction.  It came in at right about the floor of $10.00.

Well, $10.00 is a lot closer to zero than it is to the $28.00 assumption in the model.  So even if we go forward, if you look at the market prices for carbon, we are closer to this scenario.

So it is my suggestion to the Board, when you are looking at your base case, if you look beyond 2013 and 2014, you should look at this scenario.

I now want to turn to the last major area of discussion, which is the shortcomings.  And there are three that I talk about, and I want to emphasize in this short time, having to do with the way trading works, the prices and SBG.  We have had some hints of those in the opening statement of Dr. Shavel.


If I could turn to page 9, this is a picture that we drew to describe how the market model works in the NEEMs model.

Whenever the export tariffs -- you know, Dr. Shavel talked about this being a deterministic model, a linear programming model.  What does that mean?  The amount of trade you get is the exact amount you need to either reach equilibrium or fill the tie.  One of those two things happened under the model.

And if it is reach equilibrium, those are the blue dots across the bottom.  The price difference is just enough to cover off the trader's cost, provide the profit margin they have assumed is needed in order to have trade, and you get the exact amount in each hour.

Once the tie line is full, of course the price difference can go anywhere it wants, and that is what is meant by the vertical line.  This is just sort of a cartoon picture to give an image of what is going on in the model.

The real world is a little bit different.  If we could turn to page 7, this is data that we've collected looking solely at New York and Ontario, and the amount of trade between the two markets and the amount of price difference.  And it is huge and it is scattered.  It is so densely populated, it is hard to even see a pattern in this data.

Trading is hard.  In order to focus in on where most of the data points and we did slide A, where we just looked at a narrower range to really emphasize what is going on with respect to trading.

If you look in real time, you will see that trades are done with large differences in price and small differences, negative differences in price.  There are opportunities that seem to be lost because the prices were large and there was very little trade that was done.  There is large trades that were done with very, very little price difference.

The reason why I provided and Marc-André Laurin provided joint testimony to talk about the traders' perspective is to get at this issue.

This is the real world and what traders face.  I'm not saying that the model -- the model certainly doesn't capture this.  It is not my recommendation they should redo the model.  It is just we should understand the limitations of the model and think about what that does for our conclusion.

The fact is, when you add a cost, a tariff, you're slowing down and making what is already a very complicated and different activity and you're making it worse.

By making it worse, you're making the markets less efficient and you are introducing costs that could be eliminated by reducing the tariff.  That's point 1 on the trading issue.

Point 2 had to do with the market prices and the prices in the assumptions in the model.  This is that sheet of paper that we were unsure whether it was confidential.

MS. CONBOY:  Mm-hm.

MR. HAMAL:  If we could call that up?  We can't call that up, all right.  We have handed it out to I think everyone or at least every other person here.  Does Board Staff – have you got it?  Okay.

This is the NEEMs model.  If you look at the model, you will realize they didn't model every single hour in the year.  They took each month, and each month they grouped the hours into ten different tranches or buckets of numbers.

I have a problem with that.  But what we did is we looked at:  How often does each month have a price below $30.00?

In 2013, it is every month.  That is what the twelve means.

In the eleven written under -- under $20.00 and under $10.00 means in almost all months prices are under ten bucks.  They don't have any prices under zero.

So in the NEEMs model in 2013, we see lots of months where prices go down under $10.  That is true for '13, 2014, a little bit less so in 2017.  You see a lot of those prices.

If you look at the NEEMs model and you look at neighbouring regions, you find prices never go below $30 at all.

This isn't realistic.  This is not properly benchmarked.  Now, to show that, if I flip back to page 5 of the public data that was put out, we looked at real world data for the last 12 months that were available to us, did the same sort of grouping.  We found that the Ontario HOEP price, you know, was generally in line with what was in the modelling; under $10, for example, happened in seven months.  That is reasonably in the ballpark.  If you look at it for PJM-MISO in New York, it's similar.  Those markets also have prices that dropped down in the same way.  In the model, it doesn't.

What's the consequences?  The consequences are, in the real world, there is still active trading in these low price hours, because those neighbouring areas, there is still movement of energy back and forth.  There is opportunities to sell a little more, sell a little less.  We are -- with -- the tie lines are not full.

In the NEEMs model, the tie lines are completely full when you get to those price hours.

Well, if the tie lines are full, changing the tariff isn't going to matter.  So we're not studying a change in tariff under realistic assumptions in those low-priced hours, because we've already fixed it so that there is no opportunity for a change in trade.

That's why this matters.

Now I want to turn to the third element of SBG, and this is the last item I want to cover.

The next page, page 6 is CRA data that looked at the amount of volume on the tie lines during SBG events.

And we heard in the opening statement -- you know, Dr. Shavel talked about, you know, during -- the average exports during some nuclear outages were only 178 megawatts.  And the average outcomes in other cases were, I believe, 1,500.  I'm sure that number is not quite right.

But the point is with tie line capacity of at least 3,000 - you know, theoretically 6,000, but certainly up to 3,000 - during SBG events the tie lines aren't full.

We agree on that, as I heard his statement.  During the events, it is not full.

Dr. Shavel said there must be non-technical factors that account for that, and he describes some in his opening statement.  There is others in his report.

The fact is it is not full is because it is really hard to trade in those intervals.  We've discouraged traders, by exposing them to huge uncertainties about those very hours, which make it very difficult and unprofitable to trade.

We want the trade to occur.  Everyone agrees that exports are the best way to handle surplus base load generation.  Heck, let's sell it, rather than spend extra Monday to back the units down or incur other costs.

But when we turn to the traders, we've made their lives very difficult.  Part of it is the tariff, of course.  That is what we're here about.  We can make that easier to do during those hours by changing the tariff.

Other things that happen, then, is the IESO's actions to intervene in the normal market process to deal with SBG.  Doing things like shutting down a nuclear plant can cause the price to go up.

Well, for a trader, he doesn't want to commit if he doesn't know what the ISO is going to do, so you get reluctant during those intervals and back off or be afraid of doing the trade.

Again, the traders -- Brookfield trader will address this issue, but we can help the process during SBG by lowering the tariff and doing an incremental step to make that trade easier.

Now, what's that worth?  One of the issues is:  What is any of this worth?

A nuclear outage costs 2- to $3 million.  That is the cost to consumers of backing down a nuclear unit.  In the base case of CRA's analysis, they did that 20 times.

If we could change five of those, five out of 20, by having additional exports during this time frame, what's that worth?  Well, that is 10- to $15 million.  If you look at the benefits of trading and the incentives that we're trying to eke out between consumer surplus and producers, the intertie congestion revenue, that is a big number.

It is not quantified.  I don't know exactly how it is going to work, because it is really complicated figuring out how the traders' incentives will work.  But in all the CRA analysis, in none of their scenarios, for whatever reason, did they ever have a change in SBG actions as a result of change in the tariff.

There's none.

The reason is because what they did to prices, and the reason is how they factored SBG into their analysis.  They made it so it couldn't happen.  But it's a big deal, and it could be worth millions of dollars in terms of nuclear outages, plus whatever costs might be associated with backing down, spill and wind and the other actions the ISOs have been working on to address this issue.

That concludes my comments as to what I think are the key issues to be helpful here.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Hamal.

Mr. Roger and Mr. Todd, would you like to go ahead?
Evidence-In-Chief by Mr. Todd:


MR. TODD:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  We deal with somewhat different matters than you have been hearing so far this morning.

The OEB has a well-established process for setting rates for regulated entities that are consistent with generally accepted regulatory principles.  That process involves three steps:  determining the revenue requirement, completing cost allocation study, and implementing a rate design that recovers the revenue requirement in a manner that is informed by the cost allocation study.

At the present time, while the IESO's revenue requirement is determined in the traditional manner, a cost allocation has not been undertaken as a basis for the rate design of the IESO tariffs, including the ETS tariff.

As a result, the ETS tariff is set in a manner that cannot be considered to be consistent with generally accepted regulatory principles or the standard practices of the OEB.

This concern is highlighted by the fact that the existing ETS tariff was explicitly identified as a placeholder.  Board Decision with Reasons, proceeding EB-2010-0002, December 23, 2010, page 74.

It is not possible to set a cost-based tariff in the absence of an OEB-approved cost allocation study.

The central message in our evidence filed October 1, 2012 is therefore that, in order to be consistent with the OEB's standard ratemaking principles, the starting point for changing the ETS tariff should be to complete a cost allocation study.

The study would determine the fully allocated costs of providing the ETS service to customers.  Then and only then would it be possible to determine whether the proposed changes in the ETS tariff is consistent with the Board's stated rate design principles.

This perspective is captured in section 2.1 of our evidence, which states that:
 "The OEB regulates the electricity sector in Ontario.  Ontario Power Generation, all transmission and distribution companies operating in Ontario, the OPA, the IESO are required to submit to the OEB their respective revenue requirements in order for the OEB to approve their operating costs and for those organizations to recover these costs through unbundled electricity rates in a just and reasonable manner for Ontario electricity customers."

We note that the attributes of a sound rate structure enunciated by James C. Bonbright were endorsed by the OEB in a Staff discussion paper for rate design for recovery of electricity distribution costs.  In our evidence on page 4, we quote the Board Staff's discussion paper.

The Board identified three rate design principles for the purpose of this process.  These principles encompass all of the Bonbright attributes for sound rate structure identified in the March 2007 Staff discussion paper:  "Full cost recovery, fairness and efficiency."  That is a quote.

It is our evidence that cost allocation is an essential step in the overall ratemaking process, and it is guided by the aforementioned Bonbright principles.  At the core of these principles is the concept that costs should be allocated to customer classes in a manner that reflects cost causality.

The importance of this approach within the OEB's regulatory regime was clearly stated in the report to the Board in proceeding EB-2007-0067.

The establishment of specific revenue requirements through cost causality determinations is a fundamental ratemaking principle.  Cost allocation is key to implementing that principle.  Cost allocation policies reasonably allocate the costs of providing service to various classes of consumers, and as such, provide an important reference for establishing rates that are just and reasonable.

With respect to interruptible rates, it is our evidence -- in our evidence we quote from Bonbright's book that states that these rates would be lower to reflect the fact that the customer is buying a lower quality of service.

We state at page 5 of our evidence, in our opinion, the applicability of the concept of allocating and recovering costs in a manner that reflects cost causality is not limited to electricity distributors.  It is a core principle that guides the setting of just and reasonable rates in all applications of economic regulation, including the setting of the ETS tariff.

Certainly the cost causality principle is not the sole determinant of just and reasonable rates.  However, significant deviations from this principle should result from an explicit determination of the appropriateness of any departure from pure cost causality.

By definition, such departure creates cross-subsidies among customers, which needs to be accounted for when balancing relevant rate-making principles.

Furthermore, in our opinion, it would be inappropriate to establish a charge without first determining the causal costs in play.  These costs would serve as a reference point in determining whether any deviation from strict cost causality is appropriate and necessary, considering other rate-making principles or policy considerations.

In our opinion, it would be inconsistent with generally accepted regulatory principles to accept rates as just and reasonable when they embed cross-subsidies that have not been quantified and have not been explicitly recognized and accepted by the regulator.

To summarize, as we state in our evidence in section 5, it is our opinion that the following findings and recommendations be adopted by the OEB in this proceeding in setting the ETS tariff.

The principle of cost causality should be applied in determining the ETS tariff.  This can be achieved by creating a separate customer class for exporters, taking into consideration that:  One, exporters use only the excess capacity of the transmission system.  Therefore, they should not be charged the same rate as firm customers when using the Ontario transmission system.

Two, exporters' capacity requirements are not taken into consideration by transmission planners in the planning and design of the Ontario transmission system; and, three, the IESO treats exporters as interruptible customers when operating the Ontario transmission system.

Point 2, quoting from the evidence still, if the OEB establishes the ETS tariff taking into consideration other rate principles that depart from cost causality, the reason for such departure should be provided.  It should be identified that domestic customers would be receiving a subsidy from exporters and the amount of contribution should be clearly stated.

With respect to the evidence of the other experts, I note that as stated in the joint expert written statement on page 4, Navigant and CRA have not provided evidence on or an opinion on what are generally accepted regulatory principles, or on how they would apply in this case.

Similarly, Elenchus has no opinion on the evidence filed by CRA and Navigant.  We are aware of their evidence and we have not engaged ourselves into the details of their evidence.  We do not view our comments on cost allocation to be in conflict with the other evidence.  We're saying that cost allocation is a separate and distinct piece of information that can inform the Board in making a decision on the ETS tariff.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Todd.

Mr. Finkbeiner, you are here to assist us, as somebody who works intimately in the IESO market, and to provide us with some assistance with respect to the facts of the market.

Would you like to make some opening statements?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I really have no opening statements.  I do have one point of clarification -- actually, two points of clarification that I could make at this point, if that is acceptable?

MS. CONBOY:  Yes, please.
Evidence-In-Chief by Mr. Finkbeiner:


MR. FINKBEINER:  If we could turn to the MSP report that was filed, page 155, table 3.2?

MS. CONBOY:  You will have to give us a minute to pull that up.

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's fine.

MS. CONBOY:  It is in K1.5.  Thank you, go ahead.

MR. FINKBEINER:  I just wanted to point to one clarifying area with respect to this table and the congestion rents going back to or from consumers.  I think Mr. Hamal noted the $42 million payout decision that was made last week.

That is accurate, and the sum total of payouts from the IESO upon completion of that payout would be $99 million.  But what I want to point to you on this table is that there has been a congestion rent shortfall in the operation of that account to approximately $150 million.

That is money that has gone back to the transmission rights holders that would never, ever get back to consumer payout.  That money has been distributed to the TR rights holders, and it is no longer in the account such that it could be paid back to the customers.

By extension, there was assumptions made as to where those rights should ultimately go, and if you look to the MSP's recommendation 3.2, which happens to be on page 187 of the same report, they ultimately say the IESO should consider making the number of rights we auction off equal to the rents collected.

This is an important point, because ultimately when you consider the amount to be paid out assuming -- based on the review that the IESO had agreed to do in response to their first recommendation of the TR market, if you assume that the IESO adopts that recommendation and you go back to table 3.2, the difference between the rents collected and the auction revenues over time has been approximately a $144 million difference between the rents collected and the auction revenues.

So if you follow the MSP recommendation 3.2, payouts - this $57 million we have done plus the $42 million - would not equal the contingency rents over time, if you look at this historical balance between the two.

So I just wanted to point those two items out.  I don't have a comment on any of the analysis, per se, but just to clarify how the TR market has operated so far to date.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  That helps, Mr. Finkbeiner.

Before we move to cross-examination, Mr. King, I think we will take the morning break, so we will take 15 minutes.  It is five after, and we will return at 20 after 11:00.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:02 a.m.
     --- On resuming at 11:24 a.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. King, you are up first.
Cross-Examination by Mr. King:


MR. KING:  Thank you.  Good morning, witnesses.  I am Richard King.  I am counsel to the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.

My cross this morning will be primarily, I think, for Drs. Shavel and Baziliauskas, the CRA witnesses, and maybe a couple of questions for Mr. Finkbeiner, as well.  I don't plan on having any cross for the Elenchus witnesses.

And just for some context, I have never cross-examined a multi-party panel before, but as Mr. Hamal said in the opening statement, APPrO participated in the stakeholdering process and is generally supportive of the study.  We believe it provides some useful information.  Nevertheless, we retained Dr. Hamal to -- or Mr. Hamal to carry out an assessment of that study, and that has helped inform our opinion as to the level of the appropriate tariff.

So I am going to focus my questions today really on the quantitative component of the CRA evidence, not the qualitative analysis that you did.

Really, I am going to zero in on, I think, the three surplus change calculations that you did.  I think that is the best way to go about this.

Maybe for the purposes of cross-examination, I think all you will need in front of you is your evidence and the hearing compendium that we filed.

And specifically, maybe we could start by looking at the four, what I call, output tables; those are tables 7 through 10 of your evidence.  And these are the summary of the surplus changes, the four tables, for each of the four tariff scenarios that you were charged with studying.  Really, I am going to focus primarily on 7 and a little bit on table 8.

So table 7, which is at page 27, that is the surplus change calculations for the tariff elimination option.

And then table 8, which is a few pages later at 31, that's the surplus change calculations for the 580 tariff.

And I am going to start with consumer surplus.  So if we could look at table 7, you calculate for 2013 the consumer surplus to be a negative $16.1 million.

And this is the total annual change in the ultimate electricity costs - for lack of a better phrase - paid by Ontario consumers if the tariff is lowered from $2 to zero; correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  Correct.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And this consumer surplus calculation is made up of four components, and those four components are as follows.

The first one is the delta in the global adjustment, or the GA.  And that is essentially saying how much global adjustment paid by Ontario consumers under your model results as a result of the change in tariff; is that correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And so they would pay $97.8 million less?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And then the next item down is the change in market payments.  And essentially, this calculates how much market payments are made by Ontario consumers.  And in your analysis, they will pay $90.7 million more; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  Just for some clarity on the term "market payment", is that the hourly Ontario energy price?  Or is it HOEP plus something else?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Sorry, I didn't hear the last part.  It is essentially the HOEP.

MR. KING:  Okay.  And together I am going to refer to those as sort of the all-in power costs.  And I will talk about that a bit later, but I call it that because the next two items are essentially -- and I think Dr. Shavel used this in his opening statement -- they're essentially offsets to the power costs, to some extent.

And the first one of those is the change in ETS revenue; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And based on your study, there will be $42 million less of that in 2013 because there is no tariff?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  So in terms of an absolute number -- these are deltas -- we can assume that in 2011 there was about $42 million of ETS revenue generated; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  In 2011?

MR. KING:  Yes.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I don't know what the 2011 number is.

MR. KING:  Okay.  I had assumed that if –- okay.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  It is the ETS tariff times exports.  So it is $2 times whatever the export level is.

MR. KING:  Right.  But if the delta -- if the change from moving to a $2 tariff to zero dollar tariff -- and I understood the base case or the base year was 2011 in your study; is that not true?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  No.

MR. KING:  Is 42 million an approximate number?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  We modelled three years, one of them being 2013, and 42 million is the number that we calculated from the modelling of 2013.

MR. KING:  Okay.  So there would be $42 million less revenue generated from exports to offset consumer costs?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  The transmission costs, yes.

DR. SHAVEL:  That is between the status quo at $2 and the universal elimination at zero dollars, all in 2013.

MR. KING:  Understood.

DR. SHAVEL:  2011 was only for the purposes of calibration.

MR. KING:  So $42 million isn't the absolute number?  That's truly the delta?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  It's the change.  These are all changes.

But in this particular case, it is the tariff -- because -- it is the tariff revenue times -- sorry, the tariff rate times tariffs in the status quo, which is $2 times whatever the exports are.  And the change, to calculate the change you take that number and subtract zero, which is the assumed tariff in this scenario, times the tariffs in this scenario.  Right?

So it is the change and the level in the status quo.

MR. KING:  Understand.

And then the fourth item, which is also an offset, is the change in uplift --


DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  -- charges?  And for clarity, I think these include things like the IESO admin charge, ancillary services, congestion management; is that correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And so the theory here is that presumably with a lower tariff, there would be an increase in exports and there would be an additional 18.8 million collected from exporters that would go to the benefit of consumers; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  So that is why that is a positive number?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  Now, your ETS tariff study two years ago didn't have these components in it, did it?

It was strictly the HOEP, was it not?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I don't have it in front of me.

MR. KING:  Dr. Shavel?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.  I believe that is correct.  It's --subject to check.  It did not have the global adjustment.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Right.

DR. SHAVEL:  But subject to check.

MR. KING:  And can you tell me why the change was made, why you added global adjustment?

I also don't think it had uplift, but, again, subject to check.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I mean, we -- I don't know if I should speak to this.  I mean, you are much more...

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.  We recognized during the course of the last study that global adjustment was an important factor that offset changes in the HOEP.

We didn't -- it wasn't within our scope, then, to do the in-depth analysis, and we didn't do it.  But this time we did do it, we took account of it, and we –- also, obviously, uplift and changes in the ETS.

MR. KING:  And is it, I guess, your view that this measure of consumer surplus is perhaps a more accurate view of consumer surplus?  Or one that might provide more useful information to the Board than the study two years ago?

DR. SHAVEL:  It is, yes.

MR. KING:  Okay.  And if I go back to the first two items in consumer surplus, there's a relationship between these two items in the Ontario market -- not in your model, in the Ontario market -- in that when global adjustment payments increase, market payments decrease, and vice versa; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. KING:  So if we look at table 7, you know, the export tariff is lowered, export volumes increase.  Ontario price presumably increases, and there are more market payments made by Ontario consumers.  And when market payments go up, you can expect sort of an equal and opposite reaction in global adjustment.  It goes down; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And that relationship, if you flip across all four tables, is repeated, and one thing you will note, I think, is that they match up pretty closely.

So whatever happens to the market payments, you can expect the global adjustments to do, in approximately the same magnitude, the opposite?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And the net effect of that is sort of a dampening, if you will, of the third line in your table, which is the delta global adjustment plus market payments.  Those numbers are all quite small?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And it is your understanding that class A customers pay less global judgment than class B customers relative to all-in power costs; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And that was the result of a regulatory change recently?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  To the global adjustment mechanism, yes.

MR. KING:  So, for example, in table 7, again, still sticking with 2013, in terms of the consumer payments for power, the unilateral elimination of the tariff in 2013 means that, overall, consumers would pay $7.1 million less of what I call the all in-power cost, but the global adjustment component and market payment component of those payments, they switch on -- they are moved on a greater magnitude; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Sorry, the last?  They are moved?  Which are moved on a greater magnitude?

MR. KING:  The individual components, the changes -- the composition of the all-in power cost switches in terms of the two components, global adjustment and market payments, on a greater magnitude than the actual all-in power cost.


DR. SHAVEL:  I think, Mr. King, you're saying that there is about an order of magnitude difference.  Each of the other components moves about ten times more than the net.

MR. KING:  Correct.

DR. SHAVEL:  They offset each other.  Yes, correct.

MR. KING:  And because they offset, that is something that is repeated in all four.  You would expect that to repeat?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, that's right.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And this has an implication for class A and class B customers driven by the fact that class A customers, relatively speaking, have a smaller component of their bill made up of global adjustment payments?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And that you have attempted to show in your four tables on the bottom half of each table.  That is where you pull out the results from the top related to consumer surplus, and you break them down for class A customers and class B customers; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  So if we just look at the numbers again on table 7, for 2013, that $7.1 million, that benefit to consumers is comprised of class A customers paying $4.9 million more and class B customers paying $12 million less, collectively; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  So the larger customers in this analysis don't do as well as the class B customers when we talk strictly about that all-in power cost?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  By "larger customers", you mean class A?

MR. KING:  Correct.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  If you flip to table 8, the opposite is true.  So under table 8 - and this is where the tariff moves from $2 to $5.80 - you will see the large deltas in global adjustment and market payments, but the net effect is consumers paying 10.1 -- collectively, paying $10.1 million more in 2013 under your model.

But that is broken down such that class A customers are actually paying $16.8 million less, and smaller class B customers are paying $26.9 million more; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  And that's a direct function of this fact we have been talking about, that global adjustment makes up a larger proportion of small consumers' bills?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  Just the one thing that I've been wondering about when I go through these tables, when I look at either, you know, the $7.1 million number on table 7 or even the whole consumer surpluses, taking into account the offsets, those are pretty small numbers, aren't they, when you take into account what the absolute numbers would be in terms of power costs paid by consumers annually, aren't they?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  So are they small as a percentage of total cost for electricity?

MR. KING:  Correct.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes, very small.

MR. KING:  But there are some numbers in here that would be, I would think, fairly material.  So, for example, the change in the ETS revenues, that would be a material amount for those customers that pay ETS revenues, the $42 million on table 7, and then the $50.8 million on table 8.  Is that true?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, I'm not sure what you mean by "material".  I mean, it still is a percentage of their total bills.  It is still a fairly small number.

MR. KING:  Do you have a sense of what proportion --


DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, other people here would know a lot better than I do what sort of the total payment is, but, I mean, isn't it in a -- did we calculate a total pay -- I think we calculated a total payment.  Payments for electricity, about $10 billion.  That is just for electricity, and I'm not sure what transmission costs are on top of that.

Didn't we say transmission costs are -- or electricity bills -- sorry, bills for energy, about 50 percent of the total?

So that $42 million number is a total percentage of payments for electricity, including transmission, energy, and all other charges is -- you know, it is 42 million over about 20 billion, I think, something like that.  So it is a very small number.

MR. KING:  Sorry, as a function of the total ETS revenues generated annually, just the ETS revenues --


DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, that $42 million is all of it; right?  I mean, it is 100 percent.

MR. KING:  Okay.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  So in the 2017 unilateral elimination scenario, the reduction in ETS revenue is 100 percent.

MR. KING:  That is what I understand.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And on table 8, that number is an increase of 50 million?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Right.

MR. KING:  That's a relatively material number if you're looking just at the ETS revenues that would be collected annually?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.  As a percentage change of –yes, of the ETS revenue in the status quo, yes.

MR. KING:  Looking at the next category down; I don't have much to talk about in terms of producer surplus.  I think you've covered that in your opening statements.

I just draw attention -- you did -- notwithstanding the fact that you don't consider producer surplus to be consumer surplus, you did, in your evidence, I believe, sort of raise the caution that, you know, ultimately all of this producer surplus flows to the bottom line and ultimately to the benefit of Ontario taxpayers and consumers, didn't you?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  It is more accurate to say that not all of the producer surplus ultimately flows to Ontario consumers.

It's the change in producer surplus that we calculated in our model.  It accrues to -- it's essentially equivalent to a change in OPG's net income.  So it's not the level of total surplus, it's the change -- it goes to OPG.  And we understand, as Ira mentioned in his statement, that, you know, since OPG is owned by the government, over the longer term, and to some extent some of those benefits -- some of those -- some of the increase in OPG's profits will flow to Ontario residents and, therefore, ratepayers.

MR. KING:  And just to be clear, when we talk about the change in producer surplus, that is 100 percent OPG's non-prescribed hydro assets.  There is no other company that is getting that money?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  It is virtually 100 percent, and that is on OPG's non-prescribed --


MR. KING:  -- hydro assets?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  -- hydro, Yes.

MR. KING:  And then the final surplus change calculation that I want to talk about is the intertie congestion revenue.  And as has been pointed out, this is perhaps the most complex and it is the most -- one of the most important to us in terms of how it gets allocated.

So I just want to go through the basics first.  Your model uses the term "intertie congestion revenue", which I understand to be the volume of exports to a neighbouring jurisdiction times the price in that neighbouring jurisdiction, less the cost of acquiring that power in Ontario, plus, you know, the costs to get it out, the tariff, the uplift, the friction cost; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  It's that calculation when interties are congested.

MR. KING:  Correct.  And that is essentially what's shown in the joint witness statement table that Mr. Hamal referred to this morning, which I think is page 3 of tab 2; is that correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

DR. SHAVEL:  The chart?

MR. KING:  Yes, the table up now with the bars.  It is the –-

DR. SHAVEL:  Mm-hmm, yes.

MR. KING:  It's the baby blue; is that correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  And we have in this proceeding this related term of "IC rent."  And the IC rent or the congestion rent is the delta between the intertie zone price and the Ontario price, times the export volume; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Ensuring when interties are congested.

MR. KING:  When interties are congested, correct.

And from the IESO's perspective, in the real world, they use the term "congestion rent," not "congestion revenue."

"Revenue" is the term used in your model?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, it does describe two different quantities.  So it's not just a matter of using a different word.

MR. KING:  Can I ask why you just didn't model congestion rent, or attempt to model congestion rent?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  It would have taken a lot of additional modelling, and a lot more expense and a lot more time to separate -- so essentially, intertie congestion revenue is a component -- sorry, intertie congestion rent is a component of intertie congestion revenue.  So we would have had to separate the rent part out of the revenue part.

So the revenue part essentially flows out of the outputs of the model.  And we would have had to do significant additional analysis to separate out that IC rent part of the IC revenue, which we didn't do.

And so -- sorry, go ahead.

MR. KING:  So in your model you have -- and maybe this is the bar on the side, the third bar, the shorter one.  Your position is that the IC revenue, some of that would go to the IESO in terms of IC rent and some would go to traders as additional profit; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's not entirely accurate.  We don't -- we really have -- we do not have -- we do not conclude that that second component, the additional profit component is material.

All we're saying is that we haven't done the analysis.  We don't want to overreach.  Right?  So we -- the model outputs calculate IC revenue.  Right?  Conceptually, that IC revenue consists of the IC rent part, which flows to the IESO, and possibly some excess trader margin part.  Okay?

We did not have the capability; we did not do the analysis to separate those parts out.  Okay?  So -- but we haven't got an opinion about whether that -- we understand that the IC rent part, which goes to the IESO, is significant, and it might be virtually all of the IC revenue part.

We just don't know where to draw the line to separate that IC rent between -- sorry, IC revenue between the rent and the excess margin.

DR. SHAVEL:  Can I just add?  If the northeast US markets were broad and very well coordinated, we would expect the IC rent and the IC revenue to be fairly close together.

The ISOs' process for calculating the rent is to take bids by market participants to use the ties to export power, and to stack those up.

And if that indicates in pre-dispatch that the tie is going to be constrained, they look at the next megawatt, essentially the margin, and calculate what the -- intertie congestion price, and that price is then used for the rent.

That's a process that would require us to somehow model trader behaviour at the intertie, separately, entirely, from the way we modelled everything else.

So we didn't do that.  I am not sure we could have done that, without -- without studying trader behaviour, which I think is probably not something that might even be possible.

But we do believe that the rent and the revenue are numbers that should be -- our calculation should be very similar to the rent.

MR. KING:  Okay.  Thank you.

If we go back to -- I think in the joint statement -- your concern, I think, in part about attributing all of the IC -- in saying that all of the IC revenue is IC rent, was that driven by a concern that traders were somehow making additional profit?  Or was it the knowledge about the transmission rights shortfalls that Mr. Finkbeiner spoke about?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  No.  It is like I said before.  We don't know.  Right?  We have no reason to believe -- we haven't studied the profits of traders during -- when interties are congested or when they're not.

It is simply a matter of the fact that we haven't done the analysis.  We would have had to speculate based on no evidence, to divide up that revenue between the rent and the trader profits.

There is really nothing more to that.  We have not studied that split.  We have no reason to believe that that trader profit is large.

And we don't want to speculate, because we haven't done the work.

MR. KING:  And it would be difficult to do that work because --


DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  It would be difficult.

MR. KING:  -- as Dr. Shavel says, you have to look at trader behaviour and stuff, and it would be very difficult to do that?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And Dr. Shavel, I think you said that if the market were working efficiently, you would expect that the IC rent -- the IC revenue would be comprised almost wholly of IC rent; is that correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  That the two numbers would be virtually the same, because from the perspective of -- from the perspective of the ISO -- and I don't want to put words into Mr. Finkbeiner's mouth -- but from the perspective of the ISO, the IC rent is based on the ISO's measure of congestion:  when is the intertie going to be congested, and what's that value of congestion, what's the price of congestion.  That is what the ISO is measuring from its perspective.

New York, for example, to make it concrete, is a different market and they're running different software.  And they -- the price set in New York is dependent on what New York sees as the congestion on that interface, as long as -- as well as other factors.

Those two numbers are not the same.  In fact, they're generated by different models.

If there was a very, very broad coordination of markets, you would expect those numbers to converge.  I mean, that is something that Federal Energy Regulatory Commission in Washington has been seeking generally, to have markets converge and have prices across markets –- not, obviously, Ontario; you're not jurisdictional to them, but markets in the US have similar views on what prices are across each other's markets.

But, I mean, that said, that is what I meant about that broad market coordination.

MR. KING:  Let me try this.  Dr. Shavel, have you seen the last monitoring report that we included at tab 3 of our hearing compendium?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, I have.

MR. KING:  And if recommendation 3.2 were implemented and that became the formal framework for the operation of the Ontario market, would you be more comfortable saying that IC revenue would match IC rent?


DR. SHAVEL:  Can you point me to the page?

MR. KING:  Sure.

DR. SHAVEL:  That's 187, where we were before?

MR. KING:  Your recommendations 3.1 and 3.2.

DR. SHAVEL:  No.  This, really, in my understanding, has nothing to do with coordination.

This is about -- the physical congestion occurs when it is going to occur.  And the design of the market has little to do with that, except to the extent that it might change incentives for a market participant to sell or buy more because they might have more or less TRs.

So the answer, no, this is really not -- this is really not a matter of coordination.  This is a matter of market design for the TR market, the transmission rights market.

MR. KING:  Thank you.  I want to turn briefly to SBG.  I have only one question for Mr. Finkbeiner, I think.  During SBG events, are the interties always full?

MR. FINKBEINER:  No, they're not.

MR. KING:  Do you have any info about the percentage of time that they are full during SBG hours?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Not with me, no.

MR. KING:  Do you have a rough number?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I have -- actually, I do not have a rough number, I'm sorry.

MR. KING:  Would that number be hard to get?  Can we get an undertaking?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I will have to go back and check with the office to see how hard that is to get.

MR. KING:  Okay.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We will give that an undertaking, number J -- I would have called it J1.1, but it has just been pointed out to me that this hearing -- day 1 of this hearing was actually the presentation and the acceptance of the settlement agreement, so that would have been day 1.  So technically we are on day 2, which means we are going to be changing all our exhibit numbers from K, like, 1.1 to K2.1 and so forth, just to be entirely consistent.

So this undertaking we will label J2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO ADVISE percentAGE OF TIME INTERTIES ARE FULL DURING SBG HOURS.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I hope that makes sense.

MS. CONBOY:  It does.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.

MR. FINKBEINER:  If it is helpful, there is not a strong correlation -- to your question, from memory, there is not a strong correlation with maximized utilization of the ties during SBG.

MR. KING:  Thank you.

Maybe just a couple of questions on the Western Climate Initiative.  Part way through the stakeholdering process, I understand that the stakeholders asked that you rerun your model for the various tariff options for a scenario where Ontario does not join the -- does not join the climate initiative by 2015; is that correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  And if that is done, then the unilateral elimination tariff scenario, the Ontario surplus in 2015 and 2017 goes from being negative in both of those years to being positive in the amounts of $4 million in 2015 and 6.1 in 2017; is that correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Sorry, can you -- you're referring to 2015 --


MR. KING:  -- and --


DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  -- unilateral elimination?

MR. KING:  Correct.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Okay, so total... Sorry, what was your question again?

MR. KING:  The total surplus for 2015 and 2017, this is the all-in Ontario surplus?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  Those changed from being negative numbers to positive 4 and positive $6.1 million, respectively; is that correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.  They're 4 and 6.1.

MR. KING:  And for the 5.80 tariff scenario - that is table 8 - the opposite happens, meaning that the Ontario surplus goes from a positive number to a negative number; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Sorry, back to your -- back to your previous question.  The change was positive with the WCI, as well; right?

MR. KING:  Hang on.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  So it was 17.6.  The total surplus went up by 17.6 with WCI, and there were also positive numbers without the WCI, but the numbers were smaller.

MR. KING:  Let me back up a bit.  I'm talking just about -- I'm talking about the total Ontario surplus.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  So the bottom line number, right, the delta total surplus?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  You're talking about 2015, okay.  Sorry.  So it is marginally --


MR. KING:  Yes.  The four tables, tables 7 and 8 which we've been talking about, as well as 9 and 10, which are the tiered scenarios --


DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  -- those are all the base case, which is the assumption that Ontario implements carbon pricing for the 2015 and 2017 scenarios; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes, right.  You're comparing across -- within a given year, and that's right.  You go from slightly negative to positive, unilateral elimination.

MR. KING:  Right.  And in the scenario covered by table 8, which is increasing the tariff to 5.80, I think the opposite happens.  The 4.2 million in 2015 slightly diminishes a bit?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's correct.  Except it is also negative in the WCI case in 2017.

MR. KING:  Correct.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Marginally negative.

MR. KING:  Now, you didn't provide a recommendation on an appropriate tariff in your study.  That wasn't part of your mandate, was it?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. KING:  But if we look at -- it was part of your study to look at comparable tariffs in other jurisdictions; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Right.

MR. KING:  And you set out that comparison on page 15 of your evidence.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And your last column in table 2 on page 15 has all-in costs for 2011.  You looked at the 2011 tariff levels in a variety of jurisdictions; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Right.

MR. KING:  And the all-in cost is a sum of two numbers, the first being the export charge in that middle column, and you see the Ontario number being $2, and then you have added the uplift admin costs in various jurisdictions; correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's right.

MR. KING:  And ultimately the all-in sort of export cost, if you will, on a megawatt-hour basis in Ontario is $5.33 at the current $2 level; correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  And that lies somewhere in the middle, maybe on the slightly high side, of comparable all-in export costs in your table; correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  Certainly in the middle, yes.

MR. KING:  And if we were to move the export charge in Ontario to 5.80, that would take our number to be the most expensive all-in export cost across the jurisdictions you studied; correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.  It appears that way, yes.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, I mean, it would increase -- the Ontario rate would be higher going forward than the 2011 rates that are shown in this table.

These are 2011 rates, right, so you would be comparing different time periods.

MR. KING:  Assuming that the others didn't change dramatically, we would assume that Ontario would be higher than the comparators used in your table.  If there were no dramatic fluctuations in the all-in export costs for New York MISO-PJM, et cetera; correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And just lastly, the bottom line right now is the -- shows the Quebec export charge and uplift, and it is the highest among them.  Is that an equivalent service to the export services in the other jurisdictions; do you know?

DR. SHAVEL:  Equivalent in what sense?

MR. KING:  Is it a physical service; do you know?  Is it a physical reservation service as opposed to what we have in Ontario?

DR. SHAVEL:  Subject to check, I would think it must be.  It's across DC ties.

MR. KING:  Do you know if any of these other jurisdictions, their charges are for a physical intertie service?

DR. SHAVEL:  I'm sorry, physical as opposed to?

MR. KING:  Financial service.

DR. SHAVEL:  Oh, I think these are all -- I mean, these are all transactions that have to actually be scheduled.  So in that sense, going out of an RTO into another one is physical.

MR. KING:  Okay, those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. King.

Ms. Djurdjevic, I think you are next.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just to kind of pace myself, what time did the Panel want to break for lunch?

MS. CONBOY:  Ms. Chaplin and I have a meeting at 12:30, so we will have to break at 12:30.  Hopefully that is a logical spot in your cross.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I will make it so.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  My first set of questions are primarily for the witnesses from CRA and Navigant, and then later I will separately address some questions to Mr. Roger and Mr. Todd.

Now, first of all, I would like to clarify the components of the total Ontario surplus, and I think it is agreed by all -- at least the CRA and Navigant witnesses -- that the total Ontario surplus consists of the consumer welfare, producer welfare, and intertie congestion revenue.

Now, first of all, I want to clarify with CRA that when you use the term "welfare" you're using it interchangeably with the word "surplus."  So more just in terms of referring to a quantum, so that more surplus is more welfare and there isn't some kind of value judgment.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.  We're always referring to surplus.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  That is -- everywhere else, it is, but just in your report the beginning talked about welfare.  And there is a whole, you know, school of welfare economics that we would all like to avoid.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Right.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So in terms of the different components of the total surplus, CRA does not make any distinction between the three different types, as to whether consumer surplus should be given more weight or is more -- whether it is more -- whether it is more beneficial or directly beneficial for consumers, as opposed to the other types of surplus.  Like, if I understand, they're all the same; you get the same weighting, as I understand?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, that is mostly right.

The only qualification is that we didn't do any weighting at all.  Right?

So we don't -- when we add up the surplus, it's largely a matter of just arithmetic.  So we don't say consumer surplus is worth more than producers or the ICR.  It is really just an addition of the three.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So --


DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  So there is no value judgment. Sorry to interrupt.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That's why I just wanted to clarify.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So if we turn to your first ETS study at page 50, that is where we kind of find the straight arithmetic.  Sorry, so it's page 50 of 102, which is the summary of the change in the total surplus.

So just looking for 2013, it seems that if we just do, you know, the straight addition of the three components of surplus, that unilateral elimination of the tariff results in 17.6 million surplus, which clearly appears to be preferable to the other scenarios.

And even if you add across the years from 2013 to '17, the total still -- the most favourable total is still under the unilateral elimination scenario, followed secondly by the two-tiered scenario B; is that accurate?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I trust your arithmetic.  We didn't do the addition because we didn't think it was appropriate to.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  You will be happy to know that I didn't do the arithmetic.  Somebody -- some more mathy kind of person did.

[Laughter]


DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Right.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So just, you know, to clarify, then, to look at sort of the different components of the total surplus, and starting with the producer surplus, there is a consensus that it is almost totally attributable to OPG.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Which is publicly owned or owned by the province, and therefore any benefits or any surplus would eventually somehow work its way to ratepayers and consumers.

But I'm wondering if there is any indication as to how or in what amounts any non-OPG producers benefit if the ETS is lowered or eliminated.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  We certainly didn't calculate sort of a separate component for non-OPG.

I don't know if you can -- I think there is something in the contracts that would allow for gas producers -- and I apologize, I don't recall the details.  But there is some -- my understanding is that there is some scope for some small amount of that change in producer surplus to go to somebody else, but it is very small.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  And we didn't do the calculation of what that fraction is.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We're just sort of curious as to -- you know, APPrO has been active participant in this proceeding, and so we were wondering how APPrO members, non-OPG producers, would be benefiting or not benefiting from a higher or lower tariff.

Do you have any views on that?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Is that to us?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  No.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Mr. Hamal, do you have any...

MR. HAMAL:  Taking this in pieces, the analysis, and it has been confirmed, is 100 percent OPG.  So if we're working with the numbers, that is where that goes.

In my initial report, I didn't have the benefit of the full detail of the CRA analysis.  And out of conservatism I put 95 percent to OPG, before we looked at the detail.

I understand there are different ways -- there may be some contracts.  I don't have any -- the details don't come to mind.  But I know there are some slight margins around the edge of some small contracts; I don't even know if those are APPrO members.

But in terms of the producer surplus that's there, all of this goes to OPG.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just one more question for you, Mr. Hamal.

In your report on page 16, you've indicated that, you know:

"In evaluating the producer surplus, I have concluded that the 'best evidence' is that the entire surplus is attributable to OPG's non-prescribed hydroelectric generation, and therefore the benefit will accrue to consumers."

Just to clarify, what is the "best evidence" that you're referring to in that statement?

MR. HAMAL:  By "best evidence," that was my attempt to try to understand the CRA analysis.  We look at -- in the file report, you do the best you –- well, you want to be able to quantify.

It looked to me and everything pointed to the fact that 100 percent of that was going to OPG, but I didn't know for sure.

The data request confirmed that afterward.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  I'm now going to move to a few questions about everybody's favourite topic of the day, intertie congestion revenue or rent.  And one of the first things we'll do is clarify which term we're going to use.

My question is for the CRA witnesses, if you could turn to your study, page 36 of 102.

MR. HAMAL:  I don't know if it is appropriate or not, but you'd asked and we were asked as a panel about adding these three numbers up across the 2013 and '15 and '17.

I have a different answer on that.  I don't know if that matters to you, and you meant to include me in that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Please do.

MR. HAMAL:  Adding those three numbers together -- and let's -- it would be better if I had this right.  Too many pieces of paper.

If I look in the -- I'm working from the joint statement summary.  I find it really useful.

If you look at, for example, the benefits of reducing the tariff to zero, you have a positive 17.5, a negative 0.3 and a negative 4.5.

When you add all three of those up, you're essentially saying that:  We think the midpoints are best analyzed by just -- by averaging them.

That's not my opinion.  That is incorrect.

It is also not CRA's opinion, as we determined in the joint statement.

The best estimate for 2014 is 2013.  2014 is not a midyear.  2015 has some significant changes in the market.

So if we wanted to get an average of what we think it would be over 2013 to '17, what we should do is take the 17 and a half, add another 17 and a half, then add a minus 0.3 for 2015 -- I will skip '16 for a minute -- add a minus 4.5 for 2017, and then to fill in '16, probably a midpoint between those two would be a good guess.

But that is a better way of giving an overall estimate over those five years.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you for clarifying.

Does CRA have any comment in regard to that?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, I guess one thing that -- this is on, right?

I think there is a significant uncertainty, at least in my mind, sort of surrounding Mr. Hamal's analysis, and that is, that is the period over which the tariff will be set.

So if -- so the answer to the question of which one of these numbers we should use depends on the period, when the period -- when the tariff is going to be implemented and for how long it's going to be in place.  Right?

So for example just to take, you know, just to take kind of a dumb example, if it is set, you know, today or sort of in two weeks and it is determined it's going to be in place, you know, from January 1st, 2015 for the next five years, then, you know, I would suggest that you use 2015 and 2017 results.

If it's going to be set sort of, you know, starting in two weeks and it's going to be in place for a year, then you might want to use 2013.

So I think to answer -- you know, to do that analysis that Mr. Hamal just did about which one of those years is most appropriate, I think first we need to talk about, you know, the things that I mentioned.  When is the tariff going to be in place and for how long is it going to last?  Is there going to be some flexibility?  Is it going to be contingent?  Is it going to depend on -- you know, is it possible to change it based on changes in certain parameters?

I mean, there are a lot of things that we would need to sort of talk about and determine before we can do that kind of an analysis, I think.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, just to follow on from that -- thank you, Mr. Baziliauskas.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Sure.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I believe in the joint witness statement it was agreed that, you know, the best sort of predictor or estimate of the outcomes for 2014 would be based on 2013.  So as I understood, there was agreement that, you know, whatever the amounts were for 2013, they would be pretty much replicated in 2014.  Do I have that part correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, I'm not sure I would go that far.  If you had to choose between 2013 and 2015 for 2014, you would choose 2013.  But that doesn't mean you might not take some kind of a weighted average, say, I don't know, three-quarters of 2013 and a quarter of 2015, something like that.

DR. SHAVEL:  Let me just quickly add, if you take the non-WCI case, then the major changes that occur between 2013 and 2015 are a significant number of coal units retiring in the US, something like 40 gigawatts, of which by 2013 we had about 11 out.  So there is a large retirement that changes the power markets in the US, the balance.

At the same time, the FIT contracts are ramping up renewables in the province, so -- and then coal is retiring.  So there is a real change.  That is sort of continuous, but in the US there is a real change in 2015.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Would it be -- since we know in 2015, you know, sort of there is a lot of game-changing events that may or may not happen, including Ontario entering the WCI, the ultimate retirement of coal, would it be reasonable to look at projections from 2013 to 2015 only, and not go as far as 2016 and 2017 in terms of, you know, determining what the best -- at least in terms of the total surplus, which of the tariff scenarios give the highest benefit?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  So do you mean are you thinking of a tariff that's going to be in place for a long period of time, because the answer differs?  I think the answer is different depending on whether you're postulating a tariff that is going to be in place for 2014 or one that is going to be in place -- a fixed tariff that is going to be in place for five years, for example.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I was going to raise this a little later in my examination in terms of, you know, whether the Board should be setting a rate for the next five years or maybe it should be for the next two years.  I was going to ask some questions about that, but I could put it to you at this point, and that, you know, perhaps, you know, as the experts, you have some views as to, you know, how often the Board should revisit this issue or set the rate, and, you know, what kinds of events should give rise to reviewing the rate?

I am happy to hear from each of the witnesses on that.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That is a very good question that we haven't -- you know, we have not spent any time thinking about that.  And we were asked to model certain scenarios for, you know, a number of years.

You know, as Ira said in his opening statement, really our mandate -- or we thought of our mandate as kind of laying out the pieces that the Board and others could put together to come up with the right answer.

So we haven't given a lot of thought to that question, like, you know, broader questions of tariff design and implementation.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mr. Hamal, did you have any views as to, you know, how often the rate should be reviewed and set?

MR. HAMAL:  As a consultant, I'm happy to be here frequently on this issue.  And of course that is a joke, but it means there is a real cost.  This cost to me and selling my hours in providing services is a cost that has to be borne.

I have, frankly, been very conscious of the fact that while this is an important issue and one I have opinions about that you need to get right, my client, you know, is spending a lot of money on this to try to figure this out.

And they have opinions.  They want to see the market work in a more efficient manner, but -- I'm speaking out of turn.  I don't know for a fact, but it seems to me they can't afford to keep doing this all the time.

The results point to the fact that it is very clear, in my view, that there are benefits in the near term, and those extend out through 2015 and 2017.

I don't see a reason you would change it.  There is nothing that points to having a problem in those years.  I think it would be possible, if someone wanted to raise this at some point in the future, you may want to reconsider.

I think as a practical matter, you know, boards commit to what the actions are going to be now, except they never commit to changing their mind in the future.  You can't bind yourself that we're certain this is going to go through 2017 or 2021 or some other year.

So I think putting the heavy emphasis on the short term makes sense.  I think having a process that opens up for people to raise this in the future makes sense, which we have, anyways.

But I wouldn't set a real time line on it, because it is not that big of an issue and you don't want to initiate a process like this with these kinds of costs just because you are uncertain that things might change.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you all for that.

Now, Panel, my -- the next part of my cross-examination was going to get into the intertie congestion revenue rent issue.  So that might -- it might be a good point for us to stop, rather than getting two questions out, and then stopping.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay, that's fine.  It is 25 after and we will break until 1:30.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:34 p.m.

MS. CONBOY:   Please be seated.

Ms. Djurdjevic?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Madam Chair.

Before I move on to my questions about intertie congestion revenue, I have a few that kind of lead on from where we left off just before the break.

I was asking about how often the Board should consider the ETS issue, or how often the IESO should be required to do a study.

Leaving that aside for the moment, in terms of whatever the rate the Board sets or whether it decides to eliminate the ETS, in terms of monitoring the outcomes of the rate or no rate, this is a general question sort of for all of the witnesses.  I will start with CRA and Navigant, and would appreciate some input from Mr. Finkbeiner, as well.

Firstly, has -- CRA, have you considered how the market in Ontario could be monitored to determine the actual results and changes in the components that make up the total Ontario surplus?  So is there a way we could look at what the changes are in the consumer surplus, producer surplus and the ICR?

I am trying to see what kind of monitoring can be done and whether it can be done with a reasonable amount of effort.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I think the way the consumer surplus is calculated, it is, in a lot of ways, the easiest component because it essentially works off of the price change, but it is -- it's complicated by the fact that the global adjustment offsets from -- mostly offsets, changes in HOEP.

So as people have said here before, the HOEP -- the HOEP doesn't -- hangs in the HOEP don't really affect consumer surplus that much.

The big part of consumer surplus is the ETS revenue, which goes to offset the transmission, Hydro One's transmission -- sorry, revenue requirement.

So, I mean, I guess one way to do is just to monitor changes in that ETS revenue, which I think, I assume, are fairly easy to calculate, because it is just the rate times exports.

And then I guess the -- I mean, that would get you a long way towards figuring out what the change in consumer surplus is.

Total surplus, I think -- well, one thing to keep in mind is that the intertie congestion revenue, in our model it is only a significant number in 2013.  In 2015, 2017 it's pretty small, and it doesn't qualitatively -- it doesn't affect the ranking of results, really, because it is a relatively small -- it is a small number relative to the other components.

So, you know, over time, over the next few years, I think we can expect it to remain relatively small, so we might not want to, you know, spend as much time trying to figure out what the ICR is or how the ICR is likely to change relative to the other components.

I'm not sure... and I guess you want to look at exports, right?  I mean, producer surplus is a function of exports, to some extent.

And like consumer surplus, changes in the HOEP that are the result of changes in exports are moderated by changes in the global -- offsetting changes in the global adjustment.

So I'm not sure if I have actually helped you answer that question, but I guess, you know, the big part in the consumer surplus side is definitely ETS revenues.  And so that's something that one might want to keep their eye on.

And the change in the level of exports, I suppose.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Now, if we did this type of monitoring, would the data be something that could be relatively easily plugged into the modelling that you've already done?  You know, so that it's not this, you know, massive exercise that it may have been this time around.

I guess I'm trying to see if there is a more sort of simplified way we could expect it to be more efficient in the future, if we monitored these movements.

And then, you know, since we already have a model, is there a way to put the two together that we could repeat this -- I don't know...

DR. SHAVEL:  So repeat --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Repeat more and more frequently, but -- but I hesitate to say more frequently, you know, two, three, four years, whatever the -- you know, whatever the case may be?

DR. SHAVEL:  I guess if there were enough data -- enough data available, one could go look backwards and say:  This is what actually happened.  Here's a lot of information.

And then try to do a careful calibration of that and say:  Now, what if -- say the Board leaves it at $2; what if it had been zero or 5.80, what the effect would have been.  Or if the Board decides to eliminate, what if it had been to $2 or $4, and see what the effect was off of a carefully calibrated baseline, with information that was saved along the way, so that would be -- could be doable at a reasonable cost.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mr. Hamal, did you have any views on what kind of monitoring would be appropriate, and then modelling for future rate --


MR. HAMAL:  Sure.  I think it's a great question, and I don't have a great answer to it.  A couple of points on what was said already.

I don't want to get into it, whether the IC rents go down over time in the modelling, but I'm not sure I see that in the data, but the specific question -- can we just look at the market price -- I don't think you can.  I mean, we can collect a lot of data, but if exports change dramatically, well, the obvious reason is because the economics of the power system change a lot.  You shut down all your nukes, there's going to be a huge change in imports and exports.  We -- I don't think you'll find an answer there.

The question you want to ask is:  What would have happened to consumers and producers and ICR rents if the tariff had been different than it has been?

And I don't see a shortcut around the fact that you would need to model somehow, you know, if there was a different tariff, and then you need to benchmark it against a model that runs if there was.

So I think you end up having to do the same analysis.

I will say there is one related question, though.  A key part of my conclusions rests on the fact that I don't think trade is being, you know, optimized.

Take the SBG situation.  We're not exporting as much as we should.  I think paying attention to that issue is something that can be looked at by the Board quite readily.  What were the world prices?  Why or why not are we having trading?

And as part of that process, you might get at the issue of what role the tariff plays in perhaps slowing down trade that should have been there to make it efficient.

That doesn't fully answer your question, but I think it is related and something that could be done with data that is collected.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  That is helpful.

Mr. Finkbeiner, in terms of the IESO's role in monitoring the outcomes, well, first of all, is this a proper function for the IESO to monitor these kinds of -- and perhaps analyze changes and -- you know, and the different components of the total surplus and come up with some conclusions at the end of each year, perhaps?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I think we are a source of the data that's being spoken to.

We are clearly a data source around what behaviours are taking place in the market with respect to offers and bids.

It's really not the IESO's role to be into rate design and that sort of activity, and ultimately that is, in part, why we hired CRA to conduct that analysis.  It is really not our forte; nor do we anticipate it being that.

I think one of the points that Mr. Hamal talked about is that you have to define whatever data you want to be very clear and concise, because if you look at the IESO administrative markets over time, when the markets first opened we were a very import-dependent entity, where now we are exporting with greater regularity.

And you don't want to attribute the change in export volumes specifically because of a tariff change.  There are a number of moving parts in the industry, and it could be shutting down the nuclears or it could be coal retirement or introduction of FIT.  So you have to be careful in what you're looking for and what benefit or cost you are attributing to those changes in the market.

So bottom line is I think we're a great source of information to the extent that we have it.  I know there was a question asked earlier about how often is SBG and the export interfaces fully utilized.

We can't answer those questions all the time.  Specifically in that example, we don't know when the Brookfield Powers or the OPGs have initiated spill in response to surplus.  That is a surplus event; we don't have any visibility to it.  We do know when a nuclear unit, for example, has been manoeuvred, however.

So you have to be careful on the data that you think you can get from the IESO, and make sure when you are, whoever is doing that analysis is attributing it to the right sort of impacts of that change.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions on that topic.

Now I will get into intertie congestion revenue.  So I will start with my questions for the CRA folks.

If you can turn to your first ETS study at page 36 of 102, there is table 7, a summary of surplus changes and the unilateral elimination scenario.  I am only going to ask you to turn this up just to have the numbers readily available.

For 2013, the ETS revenue would be reduced by $42 million if Ontario eliminates the current ETS rate.  Now, I understand that there really isn't any dispute between CRA and Navigant as to the quantum of this amount, whether it should be higher or lower, or whether that is pretty certain that, you know, there will be a $42 million reduction if we eliminate the tariff.  Do I have that correct from -- I would like to hear actually from both CRA and Navigant on that amount.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, that number in particular, that $42 million number, it's really just -- the only variable is the status quo exports; right?

So since the tariff goes down to zero in this scenario, that part of the calculation is easy.  So I think -- and the $2 rate that you apply to get to that 42 is fairly straightforward.  So I am not sure if Mr. Hamal has any disagreement with that.

There is much more variation -- there is probably more uncertainty around the numbers for the other scenarios, because then you are not just predicting the level in the status quo.  You are predicting the change; right?

So the change in the tariff revenue collected depends on the status quo level and the predicted change in the tariff -- in the amount of exports.  But that $42 million number might be straightforward.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mr. Hamal?

MR. HAMAL:  Yes.  I accept that 42 is the right number.  It comes out of the model.  There are issues I raised with the model.  If we get into issues like, How should trading behaviour be looked at differently and more accurately, you end up changing all these numbers.

And I think if you want to pick out these individually, that is not a real fruitful way to spend the next couple of hours.  I think we -- let's use the models and see what we can learn from it.  Yes, that's the result from that model.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, yes.  I just wanted to clarify that in terms of any of the component parts of the total surplus, this one at least is not a source of great controversy.

So now if we looked at, you know, if the ETS was eliminated and all other things were equal, there seems to be no dispute that Ontario ratepayers, transmission ratepayers, will be paying $42 million more in 2013 since they won't have the revenue from the ETS.  So Hydro One will have to get it from them somehow else.  There is no dispute as to that outcome from the scenario of if the ETS was eliminated.  Now unless -- I am not hearing anybody jumping up to object.

But as we understand from CRA's model, that will be offset, at least in part, with an increase of $24 million in ICR.  And in the joint statement on page 5, you agreed that ICR revenue - and I do emphasize the word "revenue" - accrues to the benefit of Ontario, and CRA also indicated in the joint statement that it actually has no opinion about the ultimate recipients of IC rent.

And I'm wondering from -- my question is directed to CRA, why you used the word "revenue" on one, in some situations, and "rent" on others.  Is it purposely to draw a distinction, which we have now learned today there is a difference between the terms "revenue" and "rent"?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  They're two different concepts that measure different things.

So the revenue is an output of the model, which is the difference between the price in the export market less, essentially, the costs of exporting in Ontario, so including the HOEP and the various trading costs.  So that's the margin, multiplied by the volume of trade when export interties are congested.

So those are -- so it's on the one hand it's -- you know, the top end to calculate the margin, you take the price in the export market.  At the bottom end, you take all of the costs, right, including the HOEP.  And the difference is that margin, you multiply it by the quantity of exports, and that's how you do the calculation.

The rent -- and so we kind of conceptualize it is just a price difference.  Some of that is going to be captured by the IESO as a congestion rent.  They actually collect this; right?  So they -- this is collected through the ICP.

Then there is some other portion that may go to the -- that the IESO may not collect and it may go to some other parties, including traders.  So they're different concepts.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  If I understood the discussion this morning, it seemed that rent is a component of revenue, but it's predominantly -- I mean, revenue predominantly consists of rent.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  We haven't done the analysis, but we don't doubt that that is true.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So my next series of questions are to explore the issue of where intertie congestion rent ultimately ends up and how an increase in the ICR is to the benefit of Ontario.

If you could turn to APPrO's compendium, tab 3, page 155, it's the excerpt from the Market Surveillance Panel Report.

Okay.  Well, we will wait -- there it is.  So I am looking at the last time period that is recorded here, so that is May 2011 to April 2012, which shows that the amount of IC rent collected was $31.8 million.

But TR, transmission rights, payments exceeded, it appears, transmission rights auction revenue.  So it looks like the IC rent was used to cover TR payments, and the result is an IC shortfall of 22.6 million for that year.

And there is an observation in the report right under that chart that since market opening, TR payouts were 136 percent of the congestion rent collected.

So, first of all, can you explain who transmission rights holders are that receive the payouts?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  So we break the transmission right holders into two parties.  Transmission rights holders are either traders trying to hedge against transactions across interties, or speculative investments by people who are either not trading at that instant in time, financial institutions, individuals in the marketplace.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, going back to that number that we looked at, the 24 million increase in IC revenue, rent, and if we were to look at this chart on page 155 -- now if all other amounts were equal and $24 million was added to the ICR column - so we total to 55.8 million - that seems to be enough to cover ICR shortfall, but that's about it.  Like, there's not any extra that is going to go to consumers or other -- you know, somehow otherwise benefit Ontario residents, it would seem to me.  Now, I suppose we can discuss that.

Now, how does -- and if in fact -- I mean the $24 million increase and IC rent would -- assuming the other amounts were the same, would do nothing more than cover TR payouts, how does that benefit Ontario consumers?

MR. HAMAL:  When you do that, you hold constant the revenues from the auction.

So I want to take what is already a complicated issue and add another wrinkle to it.  When we want to look at it, at this level, we need to recognize the other source of revenue is when you auction these rights.

The speculators that Mr. Finkbeiner has just talked about or the other traders have a right to buy in when they think these will pay off, and if we cut the tariff, these will be worth more, because you will see more trading.  I mean, that is not a problem.  And so they will pay more for those.

In an efficient market, the amount of money that they pay is roughly equal to how much you would expect to get out of the congestion rents, because that is what they're buying.  When a speculator buys a transmission right, it is buying a cash flow stream over the next year.

There's some risk to it.  There is some uncertainty, but markets say that we should get that pretty close to the right amount after adjusting for those kinds of time, value, money and risk, et cetera.

So if they buy those transmission rights and they pay about what they're worth, then that needs to be added in here.  That's where you get the source of revenue to make those transmission rights payments over the course of the year.  And the incremental congestion in rents, what we have been calculating, they're free to be passed on to consumers.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So looking at that line again, of course we know that, you know, everything wouldn't remain the same.  And, you know, if we are talking about a no -- a scenario where there is a low tariff or no tariff, then it's fairly trite that exports would be expected to increase.

And it seems that that would increase congestion and that would increase ICR rents, but would it not also increase the transmission rights that had to be auctioned, and therefore the transmission payouts?

So in other words, all of these lines would, you know, that May 2011 to April 2012 period -- well, let's say we create -- let's not use that period.  Let's create an imaginary line for the period of May 2013 to April 2014.

And we say -- we predict that IC rent is going to increase by 24 million, but would you not also expect TR auction revenue to increase on TR payouts, as well, so proportionally we might end up with the same situation?  We could end up with a shortfall again?

MR. HAMAL:  The potential for a shortfall is always there, but I think the critical element -- and it is part of the Market Surveillance Panel's recommendation, which is under review by the IESO -- is recommendation 3.2.

This is that the IESO should limit the number of transmission rights auctioned to a level where the congestion rent collected is approximately sufficient to cover the payouts to transmission right holders.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That was --


MR. HAMAL:  Yeah.  So let's -- what we're looking at here on this table, and the shortfall which has historically been true over the last 10 years is fundamentally because the IESO has sold more transmission rights than have actually – there is trade on the market.

So it would be helpful for me to think in terms of numbers.  If there is a 1,000-megawatt tie line and they sell 1,000 megawatts of transmission rights each hour for the year, then they're going to have to pay those transmission right holders the price difference we've been talking about, times 1,000 each time.

You get a shortfall if exporters are only exporting 600, because the revenue comes in from the quantity of that -- how much is actually moving on that line.

And so all this dynamic and what the Market Surveillance Panel mentioned in its last January report, what they mentioned in their report two years ago when they went after this issue with the 100-page filing, comes back to:  The amount of transmission rights that are being given is why you're having the shortfall.

You still should expect them to -- the transportation right purchasers to pay an efficient market price, where they're going to pay based on what they're going to receive.  But the quantity needs to be set based on how much trade you really expect to have happened on that line.

And that is why we're having a shortfall.  That is the other element that goes on.  That is a policy issue that is way beyond the proceeding here.

Here, the question is:  On an incremental basis, if we get a little -- whatever decision is made is the right policy for how many transmission rights are offered.  If we get incremental congestion rents from that, would that be passed on to consumers?  I think the answer is pretty clearly yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So the Market Surveillance Panel recommendation you're talking about, just for the record, that is recommendation 3.2, and it is at page 2 of 4 at tab 3 of your compendium.

And, indeed, the IESO does agree that the recommendation warrants review.

But, again, my question is:  If you had, if you expected -- if you expected an increase in trade and a zero or lower-tariff scenario, you know, maybe I'm being simplistic about this, but to me there is going to be more trade, there is going to be more congestion, and more parties are going to be looking for transmission rights, to hedge their bets, as you put it, or just for, you know, speculative reasons.

So, again, you know, if there's going to be more -- more of that auction, yeah, to me it just does not follow that if there's going to be more trade, more congestion, you're going to have more people wanting more auction -- more of this TR, TR -- transmission rights auction, that -- you know, that the IESO would be able to actually implement this recommendation.

So you know what?  We're going to reduce the number or the units of TRs that we're going to auction, so that we don't have this shortfall again.  If anything, the price should be there to increase TRs.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Let's -- perhaps if I can take a moment just to clarify, the shortfall as described by the MSP is simply where the rents for physical trading -- that price differential per megawatt that flows -- is less than what we have to pay out to the TR holders.

It does not account for the auction revenues that are flowing -- that are received during the purchase of that TR.

So we can, with some reasonable confidence level, sell the number of rights, so that over time what you collect for physical flow is equal to what you're paying out in the TR revenues.

And that's how the market was initially set up at the outset, in the early periods of the marketplace.  You can see the shortfall values were quite small -- 0.8 million, 3.3 million, 6.9 million -- and then we created a stabilization formula that purposely increased the number of rights to achieve a different objective, which intentionally got us into a shortfall position in an effort to increase trade and things of that nature.

So you can establish a confidence level where you get the rights and rents approximately equal over time, which would leave just the auction revenues available for disbursement back to transmission customers, as per the current design.

I do want to caution, though, about the ability, at least, in our observation, around the TR market -- again, this is prior to this long review that we expect to undertake as part of next year's work -- is that if you look down the left-hand column of this particular chart, there is great volatility in the TR payouts that occur year over year or period over period.

So it isn't -- it hasn't been, at least in our conversation with the stakeholders and participants, and our observations, a market that has perfectly anticipated a value of TR rent and revenue, where you can come in, as Mr. Hamal points out -- if I think I'm going to get $100 million in payout, why am I not getting $100 million in auction revenues?

And that goes to that point we made earlier, where the auction revenues to date have been about 145 million less than the rents that we paid out or the TR payouts that we've had.

If you subscribe to what was identified, you would see, in a perfectly efficient market, that that number would be approximately the same, to the point where the customers would get the equivalent of rent.

I'm not sure that that's achievable in the TR markets, and that is one of the things that we're going to look at when we do our review, is:  What can we do in this design to make a more efficient market?  Can we achieve that equilibrium, if that's the direction that seems to be appropriate?

The reason I say that, the current position where we oversell the rights was intended to create a different set of efficiencies in the market, which could outweigh the benefit of paying back that TR auction.

And so we have to look at those when we do the review.

DR. SHAVEL:  Can I add one thing?  The gap between the "TR payout" column -- which is what the TR holders actually received -- and the revenue, "TR auction revenue" column, the last column, that is what they paid.

They've paid less than 50 percent of what they received back, and I don't know that there is anything in any of the changes or the selling more TRs relative to interfaces that's happened over time has changed that.

If you look year by year, in the first year the payout was nearly eight times the revenue.  In the years -- it has gone the other way.  In years five and six, it was twice as much, more than twice as much.

So systematically, there is no systematic pattern but the average indicates that what TR auction revenue -- TR holders are willing to pay is in the order of 50 percent of what the rent is.  If the rent equalled to the payout, which is the goal of 3.2, one would -- I don't see why one wouldn't expect, unless something else was changed in the design, that there be anything other than about a 50 percent return to the customers.

MR. HAMAL:  And if I could add, I do want to confirm
- so there is no disagreement with what Mr. Finkbeiner said - is I certainly recognize on a year-by-year basis there can be a lot of variation.

These are insurance policies.  These are hedges, and hedges have to do with a lot of uncertainty, and there is no disagreement about that.

The issue is, when we look historically, the results are what they are and the review is what it is to try to see if there is a way to bring this closer to how other markets work.

I believe that this, you know, what we have calculated in the intertie congestion rents, should go to customers.  You know, why give that to traders?

And as Mr. Finkbeiner mentioned, there are two groups of traders, some that are involved with exporting and trying to use this to manage their trade, others that are speculators.  The Market Surveillance Panel goes into that split -- and I am going from memory here.  I thought it was two-thirds speculators.

Maybe Mr. Finkbeiner knows better, and that is certainly just a rough guess, but it is a big chunk that is going to speculators.

So in some respect, this question comes down to, Gee, now that we have intertie congestion rents that are coming into the market, do we want to give it to customers?  Do we want to give it to traders who are largely speculators?

The CRA report said we assume that's going to stay in Ontario.  I think, frankly, that is where it should stay.  Speculators can be anywhere.

It becomes a policy.  Maybe there are additional benefits that come from making this market more liquid, which Mr. Finkbeiner said.  I don't know what those are.  It's interesting.  If they are additional benefits, though, that means I assume those are benefits to consumers, and so it's another bucket.  We found a better way to spend that money for consumers rather than just give it to them directly through intertie congestion rent payouts.

And that just means, by giving them the intertie congestion rents and revenues, we've underestimated the benefits.  It gets really complicated in here, but that money is there.  It can be managed.  It's going to be varied from year to year, but given the rest of the analysis that we have here, I think it's only reasonable to assume all of it goes to customers.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Can I make a comment on that?

MS. CONBOY:  Yes, please.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I think there's -- if you look at this table 3.2 in this MSP report that we're looking at, there's no way you can take a look at those numbers and say that most or even a large portion of the change in congestion revenue has gone to Ontario consumers; right?

So just look at the bottom line.  I understand there's variation from year to year, but the pattern in these columns is roughly the same.  And so if you just look at the bottom, the totals over all of the time periods, okay, what you see is congestion rent collected is $414 million.  TR payouts are 564.  Okay, that shortfall is -- that difference is about $150 million.  That's in the third column.

That's got to be funded by TR revenue; right?  So some of that -- that congestion rent essentially -- the way -- I think one way to think about it is that the IESO has a commitment to pay the TR payouts; right?  They've got to make that payment.

There are two sources of funding for those TR payouts.  One is the congestion rent collected, and the other is the auction revenue.

Okay, what's not paid out to consumers from those -- sorry.  First you get -- you know, you take those two things, and then you have to pay -- so you take the 414 and the congestion rent collected, so I'm just working off the totals.

Then you've got the 271 from TR auction revenue.  From those two sources, you have to pay out the 564 in the first column, okay?  The number that you have left over - I'm not going to do it in my head - that goes to consumers; right?  So out of that 414, there's going to be a much smaller number that, on average, over those entire time periods, have gone to consumers; right?

So if you look at this as a whole, I think I did the calculation before, but if you do that calculation, something like 70 percent of those congestion rent revenues have historically gone to TR rights holders rather than consumers.

So there is really no sense in which changes -- congestion rents historically have gone to consumers, or even a large portion of them have gone to consumers.  I think you did a calculation that was 50 percent.

So I think it's important to keep in mind that historically, any way you look at these numbers, you can't say -- certainly can't say that all of the congestion rents have gone to consumers in Ontario, and you can't really say -- it's complicated, but you can't really say that most of the rents historically have gone to consumers.

So then the next step is what's going to happen in the future; right?  So the reason -- the main reason we didn't allocate the congestion rent to producers or consumers is because there is no pattern, sort of historical pattern, in the data.  It changes over time.

There is no model you can apply to figure out how much of the $24 million you can trace to consumers ultimately, and how much you can trace to TR rights holders and other parties.  That's why we left it as a piece that, you know, others can figure out what to do with.

The other reason is the future is going to look different than the past; right?  So we know this recommendation 3.2 of the MSP report, if implemented, it's going to mean the first two columns in this table are going to be equalized, right, which is fine.  There's not going to be a shortfall; right?

But then what's going to be left over for consumers is the TR auction revenue; right?  And as far as I know, the MSP report is silent on what happens, how to design the auction.

So there is no -- so that -- once you get rid of that shortfall, TR rights holders are made whole, and the only thing that is left over for consumers is the auction revenue.

And so we would have to know what's going to happen to auction revenue before we can say anything about how consumers are going to benefit from changes in congestion rents; right?

And so, you know, the even if the implementation -- even if 3.2 is implemented, we still don't know, on the basis of that alone, how consumers are going to benefit from changes in the congestion rents.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  That was extremely helpful.

If the Board did decide that a lower tariff or zero tariff was, for various reasons, the optimal outcome, but, you know, looking at the fact that it does result in a $42 million loss in the ETS, which directly affects consumers, and if the Board thought, you know, maybe there's a way that we can compensate consumers for the loss of the ETS by somehow ensuring that the ICR is -- you know, the increase in ICR is directed towards them, would there
-- and having heard just, you know, what you've said now about TR payouts being sort of the number one obligation, I'm wondering whether that prevents the Board from, for example, you know, recommending or ordering that the IESO take the ICR and allocate it to consumers, like, for example, through its next fees case, say, you know, You're going to have to take that $24 million or whatever the amount is that you have received in additional ICR, and, you know, reduce your revenue requirement in your next fees case.

Is that an option or is that not possible given, you know, the current structure of, you know, the TR payouts having to be paid first of all before any other disbursements?

I would be interested in hearing from each of the CRA and Navigant and from Mr. Finkbeiner on that.

MR. FINKBEINER:  From a technical perspective, let me maybe address this first.

The revenues received, this rent or the auction, are not revenues that are the ISO's to be able to use to offset our fees.  These are natural outcomes of the settlement of the electricity market where we pay generators in Ontario one price, but charge exporters another.

That goes into, in essence, a balancing account which we call the transmission rate clearing account, which the IESO has no authority over the dollars to use for its own purposes.

Those are expressly the ISO-administered markets with respect to the TR market itself, and to try and assert that we could use that to offset our fees is not within the current structure and not appropriate with that structure.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  From our experts from other jurisdictions, I would be interested in knowing if there were any other methods in any other jurisdictions where, you know, there has been a move to a low or zero ETS rate and whether the agencies in those jurisdictions compensated consumers in some way.

MR. HAMAL:  Where this has been done before - and by "this" I mean cutting the tariff to zero - I think it has been done in circumstances a little different than here, but in circumstances where the benefits to consumers were recognized and not as controversial.  And so to my knowledge, there's no place where people tried to carve out a specific payment.

If we wanted to do that -- and I don't know how you could do that, to be honest with you, but if you wanted to do it, you would need to look at the auction revenues, as well, because the auction revenues will change.

We've got our scenario here, the $42 million.  You know, I like the CRA model.  We need to understand its limitations before we use the numbers.  The CRA model does not include auction revenues.  It is just not part of how it looks at it.

So it is accounting for all of this in the intertie congestion rents.  In the real world, you would have the intertie congestion rents of maybe $42 million, and you'd have additional auction revenues that would have come in to help correspond and pay out.

So when we look at table 3.2 from the Market Surveillance Panel, and you try to -- how does $42 million fit in here?  We're missing a piece.  And it is this tension that comes from trying to use a perfect optimization linear program to capture what is going on and then apply it in the real world.

There really will be more money to spread around, which should net out through those payments, which leads me to believe that the $42 million number is reasonable for this analysis.

DR. SHAVEL:  Let me answer a question about going to a zero.

The only instance I know of that, though I think New York and New England may be doing it or may have done it, was between PJM and MISO, where they reduced their tariff to zero between each other.

But, again, it was bilateral.  The intention was to reduce the same to get benefits on both ends, both sides, and that was recognized it was also something that the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission was pushing very hard at the time when they were the two big RTOs.  And they went off and they went and did it.

What would happen in the kind of, I think, the perfect market - and I think Cliff will probably agree with this, but he can answer that - is that if the TR holders were paying the full value they were getting - in other words, the payout - that the last column, the auction revenue in aggregate would approximate -- maybe it would be somewhat less because of a discounting, but it would approximate the payout.

And the payout would be equal to the revenue collected.  That's what 3.2 wants to see.

Then the "auction revenue," the last column, would be the money that would be available.  And as stated in the MSP report on the page before the table, those revenues, the last column would be the revenues that would be available to go back to ratepayers.

That is the design that it seems the MSP would like to see, and is a fairly conventional design for these markets.

I mean, that said, it still doesn't speak to why the TR payouts received were more than double the auction revenue.  In theory they should be similar.  In real markets, I don't know of any literature that has ever summarized how large they've actually been in the relationship, but here, the evidence is they're less.

And it could be liquidity; it could be a whole lot of reasons.  But I believe that having financial players in the market improves the liquidity and helps close that gap.

That's one of the reasons for having it.

DR. ELSAYED:  Can I just clarify one thing I think that I heard?

Did I hear correctly there are no neighbouring jurisdictions that charge zero for export transmission for unilateral transactions?  Is that correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  Correct.  Yes.  Yes.

MR. HAMAL:  I mean, the zeros are all paired, but it is mutual, yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  My last question sort of picks up from a point that Mr. Finkbeiner had made, and I think Mr. Shavel just mentioned, as well, that in terms of what's left over for consumers, we really need to look at the last column, the "TR auction revenue."

And if we turn to page 156 at tab 3 of that compendium, right under the figure which indicates a distribution of TR auction revenues, it indicates, you know, that a certain amount is distributed to customers.

And looking down to the second paragraph, of the remaining amount, 57 million, so some 21 percent of the total of the TR auction revenues, was distributed to wholesale customers in 2007 and 2008.

So clearly some of those amounts did go back to Ontario residents and ratepayers, and, you know, the market.

Now, why did that only happen in that year?  Is this something that was a one-off, like sort of an exceptionally good year?  Or, you know, looking forward, could we expect that with a lower tariff and increased trade and increased auction revenues, that there may be more, you know, a bigger piece of this -- if not a bigger piece of the pie, at least that 20 percent would represent a larger dollar figure that could at least be going to wholesale customers?  And would that offset the loss and the ETS?  Or is that just a whole different group of consumers or customers that are benefiting?  Or is there any distinction?

Sorry, that was a very long question.  I don't know if it was clear.

MR. FINKBEINER:  That was a lot, yes.

Just to be clear, for the payouts, we just approved another $42 million of payout, which gets us to $99 million out of that 271 of the auction revenues, if you will.

So there is about $170 million that, in the theory of what the MSP recommendations are -- and there's a couple I will touch on in a moment -- that would leave about $170 million that in -- if you had followed the MSP recommendations from the outset, that would have been or could have been available to the transmission customers.

We did, as 3.2 shows, show that we've used 150 million of that auction revenue to pay for the TR rights holders.

If you look at the various recommendations from the MSP, one is equal the rights and rents collection, so that there is a natural equilibrium between the two, which would leave all the auction revenues eligible for payout, which they go on to recommend that that occurs on an annual basis.

So if you look at the MSP basic design, we would have auctions where we collect money for the value of the TR.  During transactions where there is congestion, we collect a rent, use that rent to pay out the TR holders, leaving you that auction revenue available.

We do not and have not in the last -- in the two payments that we've done, we have not paid out on an annual basis, because it goes to transmission customers.  Their consumption varies over the year.  If you just did it in one lump sum if you had a large industrial load with a week-long shutdown, they wouldn't get a proportionate share because you're paying it off in a month, if they have a more or less even flow of consumption over the year.

So we -- we usually put -- when we -- and we've got the two examples to point to.  We pay those out over the course of a year in 12-month instalments.

It isn't because of a particularly good year, going on to one of your other points.  This was an increase or a growing count over time.  We actually put in a stabilization formula to reduce the amount of growth, and that's what drove the $150 million in payments.

So the growth, as far as that -- we would have it available, would be you're looking at your growth from a TR auction revenue account, and just keep summing them year over year.

So that's where that money would come from.

I'm not sure if I got to every or all of your questions in there, but I hope...

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, I guess what I was getting at is that, you know, we could expect an increase in the TR auction revenues.  I don't know if there's any way you can put a quantum on it, but would that be -- and that -- you know, the chunk of that that would go to transmission customers ultimately would be enough to offset what they might -- might be losing in terms of if the ETS was eliminated?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Perhaps just two points, and maybe see if the others have something to say.

It makes an assumption that, one, that the ultimate design of the TR market that we're going through the review of starting next quarter, yields an outcome that is consistent with the MSP's opinion on what the TR market should do.  There are a number of various designs that you could choose from.

So number one, you have to assume that that design is the optimal design that you select.

Number two, I think there is implicit in what you've said an assumption that, by reducing the rights, there is actually going to be more revenue.  That could be true, but there is an equilibrium between loss of revenue volume because of lower number of rights available, versus a corresponding increase in value of those lower number of rights.

I cannot speculate as to whether or not that would or wouldn't occur, or if it would just remain the same.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Those are all of my questions for this panel.

I don't know if I should pause, if the Board Panel has questions before I start cross-examining the Elenchus witness.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
Questions by the Board:


DR. ELSAYED:  I have a couple of general questions, and I am not sure, as I go through them, I guess who will be the right person to answer.  Given that the focus of the OEB is the ratepayer, Ontario ratepayer, my questions will maintain that focus a little bit.

Also, notwithstanding the fact that we're obviously dealing with a very complicated issue, my questions will try to simplify things to an extent, practically.


So maybe to put things in perspective, my first question is a fact question.  On average, what does the Ontario domestic consumer pay for transmission service today?


MR. FINKBEINER:  I do not know that number off my head.  Sorry.


DR. ELSAYED:  Who would know that number?


MR. FINKBEINER:  I'm wondering if our colleagues from Hydro One may.


MR. COWAN:  Typically, transmission makes up about 7 to 8 percent of the bill.


DR. ELSAYED:  I'm looking for a number that would be equivalent to the rate we're discussing here, like, the rate per megawatt-hour that I would pay as a consumer for transmission service.


MR. COWAN:  Let's just have a look here at the current approved -- certainly the network charge, which is what Hydro One charges for its services, is -- currently three-sixty-three is the uniform transmission rate for the province for network connection, line connection 75, transformation connections one-eighty-five, depending on the service.  Those are the approved tariffs for uniform transmission rates.  That's dollars per kilowatt per month.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  I'm just wondering whether what I'm paying is closer to the zero or the 5.8 dollars that we're talking, the range of options that is being considered here.  Anyway, it is something that I would be interested to know if...


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Cowan, would that be a difficult calculation for you to undertake?


MR. COWAN:  I will certainly inquire, Madam Chair, and advise.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.


DR. ELSAYED:  My next --


MS. CONBOY:  I am just going to give it -- ask Ms. Djurdjevic to give it a number.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That is J2.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO PROVIDE, ON AVERAGE, WHAT THE ONTARIO DOMESTIC CONSUMER PAYS FOR TRANSMISSION SERVICE.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


DR. ELSAYED:  One of the elements that the OEB articulated in its previous decision was whether the domestic customer should be compensated for the use of the network transmission facilities to facilitate exports.  I am just interested from the experts your thoughts on that particular issue.


MR. FINKBEINER:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the question?


DR. ELSAYED:  The fact that -- whether the domestic customer should be compensated for the use of the network transmission facilities for exports.  So obviously they're being used to export energy, and that's something that the domestic customer is paying for.


So should there be a compensation for the use of those facilities for export?


MR. HAMAL:  I will take the first stab at that.  This issue comes up -- it is sort of use of service, cost of service, whether they should be paying for that.  When we've looked at this or when I've looked at this in other jurisdictions, you know, the first recognition is we get into issues about the reduced quality of service, which you heard of before.  That's not directly on your question.


The other is the fact that that system, while they're using it, it really isn't built for them.  So there is no change.  There is no cost to the system for being used.


That still leaves open, I realize, the question of:  Should there be some payment for it?   I think this is a tough question.  I think it is a social weighing that has to happen, and there are times, and in other jurisdictions, where there is some allocation of that to pay for it out of a sense of fairness, which of course is always this very, very difficult issue to weigh.


What sets Ontario apart and what is borne out by the CRA analysis is where we think we want to charge them, because we think we want to have the customers recover from it.  In my mind, what we find out is that when you really step back and look at the numbers, you're not benefitting.  Customers -- you know, the reason why I reach the conclusion customers are better off if the tariff is reduced is because the cost to customers goes down if that tariff is reduced.


So it's not -- the way we have the best benefit going to customers, in fact, this counter -- this surprising outcome that cutting it really doesn't hurt, and it's because of the unique aspects of Ontario market, the structure of the OPA contracts, OPG and the rest of it.


DR. SHAVEL:  I don't agree with Mr. Hamal's conclusion, based on our numbers, that cutting it to zero, say, taking 2013, benefits customers.  It is true if you add up all of the components, the surplus components we calculated, that's the case, but then you have to assume that, as we discussed at length, the ICR goes right back to customers.


So, you know, as far as fairness, I think that's a policy issue there.  There are certainly variable costs imposed by exports, but it really comes down to a policy decision about what is fair to customers and how much should be charged, weighing all of the other evidence, obviously.


DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I wonder -- I mean, I think I might be able to add sort of a small piece to that.


If you think about who bears the costs and benefits here, the largest increase in consumer surplus comes from -- so when you increase -- let's go to the EANC case when you increase the tariff from $2 to $5.80.


ETS revenue goes up, and that offsets the transmission revenue requirement; right?  So in our analysis, Ontario consumers benefit, but it's not the exporters that are losing.


So at least in our model, and I think -- I don't know if Mr. Hamal agrees, but in our model, the costs of the higher tariff are passed on to somebody else.  So they're not borne by exporters in our model.  They're borne by non-Ontarians; right?


So that is -- I mean, I think that's sort of a little piece of what is going on here when you think about fairness.  To the extent that you make a difference between benefits and costs to people in Ontario and benefits and costs to people outside of Ontario, when we talk about exporters, they're really kind of -- you know, since they pass on costs -- they pass on any increases in costs to non-Ontarians, for the most part.


So those will be the people that are bearing the costs of the benefit to Ontarians.


MR. HAMAL:  If I can respond to that, it is true these costs get passed on.  The question is:  Have we really captured how that is really going to work?


And Mr. Marc-André Laurin's testimony and report, who gets at the difficulty of trying to trade in this market within margins generally and the great variation that exists, his data in my view puts a pretty compelling story that if you were to go that high, trading would be curtailed dramatically.  There would be an attempt to try to cut that off, but what you would end up doing is killing trade overall.


That's not captured in the CRA analysis because, again, we have this optimization and every hour making trades work exactly right.  I hope you can see that.


So that is just the difference is that, yes, we attempt to pass this on.  Traders are opportunistic people.  They look at every day and when the market -- we pass the rule that said the tariff goes to 30 bucks, they're not going to lose any money.  All it is going to cost is the cost of moving somewhere else and doing business somewhere else.


So I agree that that is what -- the traders aren't bearing that cost directly, but customers will because of the effects in the marketplace.


MS. CHAPLIN:   Thank you.  Just following on from that, I guess what I'm hearing from the CRA witnesses -- actually from each of you is some scepticism as to whether or not this surplus that arises -- the congestion revenue surplus, whether or not that will find its way to consumers.  Is that correct?


DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.  That is correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And I gather from you, Mr. Hamal, am I correct that you are quite confident that that does flow to consumers?

MR. HAMAL:  I think there's a difference between the real world and the modelling analysis.

In the modelling where you adopt all of the other assumptions that are there and we're getting these numbers from, the only consistent assumption is that that would go on to customers.

So if we want to look at that $42 million and say, what do we think happens in the context of how that number was calculated?  That's where it goes.

Yes, that's different that than the real world.  The real world we have to deal with intertie congestion rents that the IESO actually collects.

I think on a marginal basis, yes, the large -- I don't know exactly how this is going to work out.  These other trading issues become a factor, as well.  But I think that by and large, the best estimate is all of that goes to customers, because especially with the actions by the Market Surveillance Panel on this issue, I mean, $42 million was decided days ago, that's going to be as a result of that inquiry, in my view, in direct response to it, to try to take this $100 million that had been spent that only, I guess, 30-some had been paid years ago, to take another chunk of it.

I see that as a real positive sign that is really going to be implemented and it's going to be passed along.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Because at its sort of simplest level, I understand the issues you have with the CRA model.

But in looking at their framework, that's really what your story is, right?  Like, it is transmission customers, yeah, I know you're going to be out of pocket.  You are really going to be out of pocket, because you're not going to get the ETS revenues as a credit that you otherwise would.

But it's okay, because through this other mechanism, through the magic of the markets, there is going to be extra revenue for you, which will surpass what you're giving up.

So it's kind of -- isn't it sort of like a "bird in the hand, two in the bush" kind of analogy?

MR. HAMAL:  There is a little bit of that.  But we have the -- you know, all these different categories of, you know, the offset of the market prices and the global adjustment.  You have to fit all of those in together.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.  But, I mean, those -- if I'm looking for example at this table 7, many of those sort of effectively are a wash.

I mean, the thing -- I mean, in the real world there is a real change in the ETS revenue.

MR. HAMAL:  Okay.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Then these other amounts, in terms of the net impacts on prices, they're not big numbers.

The other big number is the congestion revenue.

MR. HAMAL:  That's right.  I mean, it may be helpful -- when I looked at this initially, before I looked at the CRA model, I recognized that there will be benefits of trade that come from a more efficient market.

Some level, we all sort of have heard that in a lot of different places, that you would expect efficiency to be improved.

Normally, there's this issue about:  Where does that money go?  We can get into the details that are here, but the fact is in Ontario, because of its unique structure, we don't have this separate group of, you know, producers who are going to cash a bunch of that in, and that's why the OPG issue plays a role.

And the fact is that if we can make this market more efficient, we've designed a market that is not like another market.

And customers are directly, you know, sharing the benefits and the costs of inefficiencies.  And they will get the benefits from increased efficiency because of how we structured it.

Yes, that results in the offset of this tariff cost, the ETS, and the other factors on how those play a role.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess your other contention is that the CRA model is not capturing what you perceive to be potentially -- I guess potentially significant benefits in terms of in times of surplus base load generation; am I correct?

MR. HAMAL:  That's right, but that is a –- that is the best example of sort of a family of values of how, if we can make trading more efficient overall, we should be able to get -- we should create efficiencies that aren't fully captured in the CRA model.

The best example is the SBG issue with these other costs, but as I talked about the trading and the price differences and off-peak periods, I think there is more than just that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But is it your view that in looking at sort of the relative levels or areas of inefficiency in the overall trading, is it the export tariff where the major issues are?  Or is that -- or I guess in other words, so if we were to eliminate the tariff, are there not still remaining issues around ease of trade that would still exist?

MR. HAMAL:  Yes.  Reducing the tariff should make trade better.

It's not the only issue that is keeping trade from being perfect or most efficient.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And is it even the major issue?

MR. HAMAL:  I think to me it is -- well, it's a substantial issue.  And I think the way to get at that is not looking at this kind of modelling at all, is to look at -- in Mr. Marc-André Laurin's testimony, he talks about he can't trade on an hourly basis and make money because of the variations.  We need to look at a more average basis and an aggregate basis.

And you see in his work just how significant a $2 change would be.  I mean, on average, the margins are -- when you go from the current rate up to, for example, 5.80, you know, on peak you go from making money to losing money.  It flips it completely.  You lose money in every month.  Actually, there is a 20-cent margin in one month.

If you cut the margin from the off-peak period, flip to the other one from the current rate down to zero, you increase the margins 50 to 80 percent.

I'm looking at it real quick.  I'm looking at page 2 of his evidence.  He really should speak to it, but it is significant.  These dollars are significant when you think about contracting and multi-hour periods.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Ms. Djurdjevic, did you have a question
-- sorry?

DR. SHAVEL:  I was -- well, I had a few comments on the last point that Mr. Hamal made.  The -- and Mr. Laurin's analysis was based on futures for 2013.

If the tariff were higher, the prices that the -- the future traded prices would be different.  The spreads would be -- likely be higher, because the market would anticipate that there would be another -- say, the equivalent average network charge, another $3.80.

Now, I'm not suggesting that all of that would show up in the market, but some of that would.  So the futures are assuming something; probably the continuation of the current status quo of $2.  So these things are dynamic.

And also, Mr. Laurin points out, as does Mr. Hamal, that trading is very complicated.  I fully agree with that.

Traders are trading bilaterally; they're trading in the day-ahead markets; they have hedge positions; they have FTRs.  It's a portfolio.

They're not just trading on looking at:  Okay, I can make $2 in this hour.  I'm going to do it or not.  It's much more complicated than that.  The uncertainty makes it complicated, and it is even more complicated because of their positions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Ms. Djurdjevic, you've got a few questions of Elenchus?
Continued Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just a couple, actually.

So I guess I will address my questions to both Mr. Roger and Mr. Todd.

My first is about cost-allocation methodology.  So if you could turn to page 6 of your report, starting about line 18, you set out the -- you say:

"Traditionally there are three steps followed in a cost allocation study, functionalization, categorization or classification, and allocation".

And then you describe what functionalization is; basically, grouping assets and expenses of a similar nature.

Now, with respect to Hydro One's intertie facilities, my understanding is that they are -- they're included in Hydro One's just general network function.  They're not a separate asset category.

Is that your understanding?

MR. ROGER:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  And in your view, should those assets -- intertie assets be functionalized separately?

MR. ROGER:  If they can be split, but probably they can't be split.

What we are saying is that if you use a cost allocation methodology, it's at the allocation level -- on the next page -- where you would separate firm from interruptible customers.

What we're saying is that we considered that the export tariff, customers that export power out of Ontario are treated as interruptible customers.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I will talk about that in a minute, but right now I am just sort of talking about the, you now, categorizing or functionalizing the assets.

I mean, there's, you know -- clearly the intertie assets are being used by exporters and importers.

And so my question is, I guess, you know:  Does it make sense or is it something that you would recommend, that those assets, the intertie assets, be functionalized separately as a sort of cost centre?  And that maybe we should -- or Hydro One or -- you know, should only be looking to exporters and importers to contribute towards those costs, rather than the entire network?


I am making a sort of a suggestion that -- is that closer to cost allocation principles than what the status quo is?

MR. ROGER:  Conceptually, we agree, but practically, I don't know if it can be done.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Do you have any information as to what the cost of the intertie facilities is?

MR. ROGER:  No, we don't know.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, hypothetically, if Hydro One did functionalize the intertie facilities, and then sort of do a further division and say, Well, it is used for import and export, and we're importing for the benefit of Ontario consumers and they bear the costs of importing power, but the cost to enable export power could be theoretically, I guess, allocated entirely to exporters.

Would that be a preferable approach or unacceptable, in your view?

MR. ROGER:  If those assets were only used for the purpose of export, theoretically it makes sense.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, if they were used half the time for exports and half the time for imports, and then the cost was split between imports and exports, very, very roughly -- I don't know what the actual division is, but say it was 50-50.  Then in your opinion, it would be consistent with cost allocation principles that exporters should be required to pay, you know, 50 percent of the full cost of the intertie facilities?  Would that be your view?

MR. ROGER:  But that would be at the allocation point or the cost allocation that would be done.  It wouldn't be done at the functionalization or the categorization.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, but I'm suggesting to you that it should be done at the functionalization.  These are assets that are only used for import and export, and let's say 50 percent of the time they're being used for importing.  And Ontario consumers will pay for that, because if -- the power is being imported for their consumption.  But the other half of the time -- or whether it is 20 percent or 5 percent whatever the amount is that it is used for export, should that -- should that cost be -- the cost of the assets be functionalized and, in that sense, attributed - maybe I shouldn't use the word "allocate" - attributed to exporters?

MR. ROGER:  Yes, we agree that that can be done in the way you describe it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  In the case of wheeling transactions where there is an import and export point, that case, you know, could be sort of, you know, a double allocation.

So, you know, an entity that was wheeling through Ontario would, you know, be required to pay, you know, its share of -- but the fully functionalized cost of the intertie assets.  Realizing that that represents sort of a double cost, is that something that you'd consider preferable to the current situation?

MR. ROGER:  Can you give us a minute, please?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Certainly.

[Mr. Roger and Mr. Todd confer]

MR. ROGER:  Yes, that's correct, we agree.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So the next step I would like to suggest to you in terms of rate design to recover the cost of interties would be what -- you know, whether it should be based on a peak demand rate or another rate.

MR. ROGER:  It probably would have to be like an interruptible rate.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Well, let's talk about, then, the treatment of exports as interruptible customers, which is your position set out on page 6 of your report, you state that:
"... per the IESO market rules experts are treated as interruptible customers, while domestic loads are treated as firm customers..."


And then you have discussed an analogy in your report between electricity transmission and gas transmission, and comparing the ETS rate to the discount -- or what should be the ETS rate and sort of comparing it to the discount that is applied to interruptible gas service.

So in your report, page 14, line 7, you know, you've created this sort of analogy between interruptible gas service and sort of presented that as an example of sound cost allocation principles.

Now, gas rates for interruptible service, as you have indicated, are discount from firm service with discounts ranging from 29 to 66 percent, and so the rates for interruptible service are that much less than firm service.

We're all sort of in agreement with that.  Now, would you agree that firm service in gas transmission is comparable to the equivalent average network charge, the EANC, in electricity transmission; that is, the 5.80 a megawatt-hour?

[Mr. Roger and Mr. Todd confer]

MR. ROGER:  Conceptually that's correct, but we didn't look at it in detail to be able to say for sure that that is exactly the way it is.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, yes.  I'm just sort of -- the network charge, whether, you know, it's in gas or electricity.  Now, if we apply the 66 percent discount for interruptible service, which, you know, you're analogizing with exporters, and if we applied that to the EANC of 5.80, that results in an ETS rate of $1.99 a megawatt-hour or almost exactly the status quo.

So are you -- are you then -- would you agree that a 66 percent discount from the EANC rate is reasonable for interruptible -- what you would call interruptible service, like, export service, or is it your position it should be a greater discount than 66 percent?

MR. ROGER:  Without doing a study, I don't know if 66 percent is the right value for electricity or not.  That's a value that is applicable after the natural gas company did a cost allocation study and allocated the proper cost between firm and interruptible customers.

I don't know, if we would do a similar study in the case of electricity, we would arrive at the same type of discount.  So what we're trying to show there is just an example of between firm and interruptible rates based on a cost allocation study.

We're not arguing that in electricity the discount or the ETS rates will also be 66 percent lower than the firm rate.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And did you find examples in any other jurisdictions where, you know, they took sort of a cost allocation principle approach, and then came up with a significant -- like, a significant discount for interruptible service?

MR. ROGER:  One example that we found where cost allocation is being used was in Manitoba.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  What do their discounts look like?

MR. ROGER:  We haven't -- I haven't looked at the discount that they applied.  But in case of Manitoba, they have quite a different situation than we have in Ontario.

I think that there they build extra capacity for the purpose of supplying their export.  So in the OEB decision, they refer to that, that in Manitoba it is quite different, and that's the reason that, in that case, they proposed that in their cost-allocation methodology, instead of having two separate customers for exports, one firm and interruptible, they should have only one type, which is export.

But it's a different situation than Ontario, because there they build extra capacity for the explicit purpose of satisfying their export needs.

MR. TODD:  Just to add to that to provide context, Manitoba Hydro is an integrated electric utility, and when you're talking about rates there, we're talking about integrated rates.  And for export, it is a little bit tricky, because those are, in a sense, notional, charged within the company.

There is an export market where they can make a margin and, in effect, the tariff makes a difference as to whether dollars flow through to subsidize rates directly of domestic customers or whether it flows through to build the reserves of Manitoba Hydro, which is a Crown corporation.

Right now, it is below its target reserves, and a current proceeding will be making decisions about potential changes which could shift where those dollars flow, but that is a completely different example, and we haven't done calculations because we don't consider it meaningful as a reference point for Ontario.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Buonaguro, I believe I have you next on the list; is that correct?  And just in terms of timing, we were hoping to break at about 3:30, if that is a logical point in your cross-examination, or if you have whittled it down to 30 minutes.

[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  We'll see about that second part.  I can certainly break at 3:30.  And if I miss it, just tap on your microphone or something and remind me.

MS. CONBOY:  Sounds good.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have all of my cites queued up on my computer, so if we could switch to number 11 on the presentation system, I can do it myself.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  I believe most of my questions are directed at CRA, but if not, I will try and be specific when I am switching gears.

I should say a lot of the topic areas that I have in my cross have been touched on, so it may sound like I'm repeating it, but I'm going to –- when I recognize that it has been dealt with, it should be quick.  So I'm going to try and cut down my time.

I am starting with Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 1.02, which is also referred to as Board Staff No. 85, which attaches the CRA review of transmission rates in neighbouring markets.

And I put up on the screen page 3, which indicates that:

"CRA was retained to conduct a review of export transmission tariff designs in electricity markets adjacent to Ontario."

Do you see that?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  On page 5 of this report, there is a listing of the five transmission providers who were selected for the study.

Can you tell me, are all of these providers in jurisdictions adjacent to Ontario in the sense that Ontario exports can actually go directly to the jurisdiction, and exports from that jurisdiction can go directly into Ontario?

DR. SHAVEL:  That is actually a very good clarifying question.

New York is directly connected, as well as the midwest ISO and Trans Energy, Hydro-Québec.

The PJM is not directly connected, but it is common and frequent to wheel through either Michigan, MISO, on the western side of Ontario, or through New York on the eastern side to get to PJM.

And similarly, to get to New England, it requires going through New York.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But technically, the New England and the PJM systems are not directly adjacent; there is a second step involved?  At least one extra step?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And page 4 of the study describes how export transmission services in other adjacent jurisdictions are provided on a firm or non-firm service basis.

I can put up page 4 here, and it talks about the summary of the firm point about transmission rates, and then below it says:

"Export transmission service may also be provided as a non-firm PTB transmission service."

Do you see that?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would it be fair to say the conditions of service for Ontario's export transmission tariff make the associated service for exports closer to the non-firm service offered in the jurisdictions adjacent to Ontario?

And by "adjacent" I mean is the actual adjacent ones, the three we talked about.

DR. SHAVEL:  I believe that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You say "believe" like there may be a qualifier, and I want to give you an opportunity to qualify it if it should be qualified.

DR. SHAVEL:  Subject to check, or...

MR. FINKBEINER:  I do not know what all of the various jurisdictions' curtailment rules are in relation to transactions using firm or non-firm service.

So it would be difficult for us to identify now whether or not that is equivalent to our service or not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But as between non-firm and firm, it's more likely to be more like the non-firm?

MR. FINKBEINER:  We actually -- our service provision within the context of FERC 888 and its subsequent rulings, we actually provide firm service when it comes to NERC transactional tagging and these sort of things.

So for curtailment in light of transmission loading relief in the NERC process, our transactions get the same treatment as a firm transaction on that context from other jurisdictions.

So on that basis, we're equivalent.

What I don't know is how they translate some of those things into capacity curtailments or energy shortfall curtailments and the like.

But as far as a transmission service product, we get the same designation service of firm as New York, PJM and the others.

And within the NERC context in its transmission loading relief programs, that is equivalent treatment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Also on page 4 -- and I have highlighted it here -- it says:

"The nominal rates for non-firm PTB service are generally similar or identical to the corresponding rates for the firm PTB service for the same duration."

And if we turn to table 5.1 on page 17 of the report, this shows an export PTB transmission service rate summary.

Is it fair to say that where both non-firm and firm service are offered for the same period of time, the rates in adjacent jurisdictions are reported as being identical, except in the case of Hydro-Québec's Trans Energy's peak rate for daily service?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.  It appears to be, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And...

Okay.  And if you can -- I will be turning up quickly Exhibit L1, tab 23, schedule 11.  This is an APPrO response to VECC IR No. 37.

Here, Mr. Laurin, APPrO's witness, similarly notes that the hourly rate for daily firm PTB service is $11.25 per megawatt-hour from Quebec to Ontario.  Which is higher than the 8.16 megawatt per hour rate for non-firm service.

Can you confirm that this is the same difference as you've noted in your table 5.1, except quoted on a megawatt-hour basis instead of a per kilowatt basis?

I.e., this answer explains why, on your previous table, the Hydro-Québec Trans Energy didn't look similar, but in fact it is.

DR. SHAVEL:  I suspect that's correct.  I haven't done the division.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Subject to check?

MR. SHVEL:  Yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Subject to me flipping back and forth and doing the math?

DR. SHAVEL:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Would you also agree with Mr. Laurin's observation that the non-firm PTB rate for exports charged by Trans Energy is equivalent to the network transmission charge billed to Hydro-Québec's distribution utility, when both expressed -- both are expressed on a per-megawatt-hour basis?  I.e., they're both $8.16 cents per megawatt-hour?

DR. SHAVEL:  That, I'm not sure of.  I would have no reason to disagree, but I am not sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Why don't we take it subject to check?  I won't give you an undertaking.

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If it occurs to you that I'm wrong, you can change your answer.  Thank you.

So based on all of that, would you agree that the $11.25 per megawatt-hour rate for firm PTB service charged by Trans Energy actually exceeds the rate charged to it -- or to it, the provincial distributor utility for network service, when expressed on a comparable basis?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you have any idea why that is the case?

DR. SHAVEL:  I do not, no.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

I am going to turn up appendix 5 to the review of rates in neighbouring markets.  So this is Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 102 -- 1.02, sorry, and Board Staff No. 85.

And so this is appendix 5 to the CRA review of rates of in neighbouring markets report.

Here you say at the top of the page, and I've highlighted it, that:

"The PTB transmission service rates are for the most part derived for the various terms of service, (hourly, daily, weekly, et cetera) starting from the firm network service rate."

Now, when you say "for the most part," can you be more specific as it relates to the jurisdictions directly adjacent to Ontario?

DR. SHAVEL:  In some cases when it comes to an hourly rate, the short-term rate, they are higher.

And in the footnotes below, the footnote below describes some of the methodology that's -- good.  Thank you -- that is often used to charge for -- charge a higher rate for a short term, for short-term supply.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Other than adjustments accounting for variation time periods -– which, as you note, are in this footnote number 28 -- are you aware of any other adjustments?

DR. SHAVEL:  I am not aware of adjustments.  Of course there is discounting and rates are sometimes discounted, and that is posted on the OASIS system, so it is available to others.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now I'm going to turn to the main study, the CRA study at Exhibit H1, tab 5, schedule 2, appendix B.  And some of this you have gone through and I'm just going to whip through it hopefully just to make sure I've got it right.

Now, am I correct that the purpose of this study was to evaluate a number of proposed export tariff rate options against this other criteria?  And that is set out in the executive summary at page 1, first paragraph, which I have highlighted here.

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  To conduct a quantitative study and assess the options against qualitative --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  -- criteria.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Am I correct that both the options that you were to review and the criteria that were used in the study were specified to you by the IESO?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And there are four assessment criteria, consistency with rates in marketing neighbouring markets, administrative simplicity, fairness and efficiency?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding from previous cross is that, first of all, the IESO didn't give you any direction as to which of the criteria should be considered more important during your assessment?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And, two, in fact you didn't actually provide any weighting or any preference to one criteria or another?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  We didn't provide a recommendation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is the next part?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It goes even further.  You haven't actually recommended one option or another?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I'm want to look at the efficiency criterion specifically, and I am going to turn up page 40 of the study.  And I have highlighted the first part of the -- and I should say, for the record, when I refer to the page numbers, I'm referring to the page number of the actual study, but in the evidence there is a slight difference in the page numbering.  It says page 49 of 102, but I have been going by, if you look at the bottom, page 40.  Sorry.

As I understand it, you looked at the impact of each export tariff option on net Ontario benefit in terms of changes to consumer surplus, producer surplus and gains from trade.  This is under the "efficiency" heading here.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I'm not sure what you mean by gains from trade.  So the components are consumer surplus, producer surplus and the intertie congestion revenue.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That was my question to you, because the gains from trade, as you can see from the excerpt, that is actually in the definition.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Oh, I see.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am trying to clarify what you meant by gains from trade.  I think you just told me that you actually -- well, you can define gains from trade if it has something other than -- means something other than --


DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  No.  It would just be the intertie congestion revenue.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Now, a fair amount of the report is devoted to describing the modelling you undertook to determine the impact of various tariff options on the market.

Is it fair to say the purpose of this modelling was to address the impact of the various options in terms of the efficiency criterion, as well as to also look at their impact on specific market outcomes, such as Ontario carbon emissions and surplus base load generation events?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It is also fair to say the modelling results do not provide any input into the evaluation the options in terms of the other three evaluation criteria, so consistency with rates in neighbouring markets, administrative efficiency and fairness?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  To some extent, the model outcomes provided inputs into the assessment of the qualitative criteria.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, for example, how does the modelling influence your evaluation of consistency with neighbouring markets?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  It wouldn't assist that one.  The rate paper, the analysis you were just going over with Ira, would have informed that analysis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But I'm talking specifically about the modelling.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.  That one in particular, no, it did not inform that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Finally I am going to go to page 44 of the study.  Sorry.  I am looking specifically at the efficiency part of the evaluation.

This page summarizes the overall evaluation of the EANC option in terms of the four assessment criteria; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you explain why the discussion under "efficiency" includes separate bullets regarding the impact on export transactions when the criteria used was overall Ontario benefit, which is discussed in the third bullet?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Can you repeat the question, please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  So under "efficiency", you put in your bullet talking about the impact on export transactions, when in fact the criteria used was overall Ontario benefit.

I mean, you seem to have separated out impact on export transactions at the same time that you are saying that the criteria that you're using is overall Ontario benefit.  Those seem to be a disjunctive set of assumptions, set of criteria.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Go ahead.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  This is more in the way of explanation of the results; right?  So an increase in the tariff increases the barrier to export transactions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  And the surplus or efficiency results flow from that model result.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.

Is it not fair to say that the impact on export transactions, as this is impact affects Ontario, is captured in the calculated change in Ontario welfare, i.e. -- sorry.  Whatever impact there is on export transactions there may be, that effect is actually captured when you actually talk about the calculated change in Ontario welfare.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  You mean Ontario surplus?  So we made a distinction before.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you said welfare and surplus was the same.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, there actually is a difference.  I think we have referred to it as "welfare", as well, in the report, but we're really talking about surplus.  There is a subtle difference.  So it is actually surplus.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  So your question is:  Are all of the essentially quantitative effects captured in our surplus measures?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think we're talking about the efficiency criterion.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have questioned why you have separated out the export transactions in your description of efficiency on this particular page.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You have told me that the reason it's there is because it explains the results.  So I am following up and saying -- I'm suggesting to you that if the actual criterion is the calculated change in Ontario welfare or surplus, isn't any impact on export transactions contained within that evaluation of the calculated change?  It is not a separate item.  It is subsumed under the Ontario surplus criterion.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Sorry.  Is it okay if I try to paraphrase to understand?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Absolutely.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Do you mean if there's -- is there any kind of additional -- are there any additional efficiency implications of changes in the level of exports that are not captured in our surplus calculations?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that is what I'm asking.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Then, yes, there are none.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  So I think we agree.  Okay, thank you.

Now, I'm going to take a look at the results modelling specifically, and I'm going to start -- well, first let me ask you:  Am I correct that in assessing the merits of each option from an efficiency perspective, you used your models to determine the change in total Ontario surplus of adopting each option relative to the status quo tariff of $2 per megawatt-hour?

I am sure I'm repeating cross --


DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It will make my cross make sense if I start with that question.

If we go to page 41 of the CRA study, these are the summary of the results, which is table 13, at page 50 of 102, Exhibit H1, tab 5, schedule 2, appendix B.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In looking at these results, it appears that the option yielding the greatest positive change in total Ontario surplus varies from 2013 to 2015 to 2017.  So different options are preferable depending on what year you happen to be in; correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I assume that this is a result of changes which have been assumed over time in the supply and demand conditions for Ontario and assumptions regarding neighbouring market conditions.  Is that generally true?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, you said -- the factors you listed were changes in Ontario demand, market conditions and neighbouring conditions?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I said supply and demand.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Supply and demand, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct, yes.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yeah, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it possible to explain at a very high level what are the significant changes that give rise to the unilateral elimination option changing from being the best alternative, from an efficiency perspective, in 2013, to being the worst one in 2017?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Do you want to try that?

DR. SHAVEL:  Go ahead.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  We actually went through this.  It is not that straightforward, because there are a lot of moving parts.

But essentially, the big difference between 2013 and 2015 in Ontario is there is a lot more renewable generation in the market.  So the way I think of it, at least, is sort of supply-stack shifts to the right.

Gas is less -- gas-fired generation is less often on the margin.  And so...

And in the US?  What's going on in the US?

DR. SHAVEL:  Well, in 2015 -- demand is growing and projected to grow more than in Ontario.

And a large amount of coal, approximately 40 gigawatts was from today's stock, we expect to retire.  And a fair amount of that is in MISO-PJM, so surrounding and directly connected or close to directly connected to Ontario.

So US tightens up.  Ontario, at the same time, gets a lot of renewables, not much load growth, and there is more of a surplus.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So just so I understand, when you -- for example, when you talk about there being more renewables, it's not the nature of the changing supply mix, it is just the overall impact on available supply?  Or is it the actual supply mix?

DR. SHAVEL:  It's the actual mix.  It's both.  There will be more capacity, and a lot of it will be renewables.  And the existing coal fleet will -- is expected to be retired by then, in Ontario.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So how does -- I don't quite understand the link between the specific nature of the supply mix changing over that time period, why that would affect the unilateral elimination scenario specifically going from 17.6 down to negative 4.5.

Can you talk about the correlation between the specific nature of those findings?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.  I think if you look at table 7 and 8, so we -- go ahead.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, so one thing that you can see -- just give me a second here.

DR. SHAVEL:  So at a high level, in 2013 there are significant exports from Ontario.  In 2015, there's still significant exports from Ontario, but those exports are less responsive to changes to the ETS in volume.  Because they're more from base load units and the price separation between the units that are actually available for export, selling outside is greater than it is currently.  Whereas now, 2012 and we project for 2013, there is a lot of natural gas that is on the margin, and that's what's moving more than anything else.

Over time, there is more the renewables that are lower cost.

So we don't see a lot of response.  We see a lot of exports in 2015, projecting a lot of exports, but we don't see a lot of movement in them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Because of their nature?

DR. SHAVEL:  Because of the nature of the source, yes.  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That's helpful.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Sorry.  Then the way that sort of plays out in the numbers is that in the unilateral elimination scenario, you wipe out all of the ETS revenue, which is -- involves a reduction of about $45 million.

So there's not much of a change there relative to 2013, but the increase in ETS revenue in the EANC scenario when you move the tariff up to 5.80, is large.  It's very large.  It is about $83 million.  Okay?

And that's because, as Ira explained, there is not a lot of change in exports when the tariff goes up.  So you're essentially -- you know, if you think in terms of demand curves, the demand curve is -- demand for exports is very inelastic in that year, for the reasons that Ira described.

As you increase the tariff by almost $3 -- sorry, by almost $4, you don't reduce export demand very much.  Right?  So you're essentially getting the additional, the increase in tariff on the original -- sorry, export levels.

So in other words, an increase in the tariff is not causing a reduction in the demand for exports.

So in terms of the numbers, that's what you're getting, and that's tied to -- and you're not getting that demand response, for the reasons that Ira described.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that is an explanation as to why the unilateral elimination and the equivalent average network charges react differently over time?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My question, just to be clear, my question was specific to unilateral elimination.  I think I got an answer on that, and why it behaves why it does, based on the assumptions that you made.   So thank you.

Also looking at these results, we notice that the range of impacts is 40.14 million in 2013 and 4.5 in 2017 for the unilateral elimination scenario, if, for 2017, we also consider the status quo as an option.

I think, actually, this is an area where I'm going to skip to the chase, because I think you've answered this question.

You talk at various places about the net impact on consumers' bills and producers' net income as generally small.

I think what you're saying is -- in the context of this you're saying, for example, the negative $4.5 million is relatively small when you consider a $20 billion or so annual bill?  For electricity, all included?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

I'm going to go to the joint expert statement, page 5.

And you've talked about this a bit.  You've indicated here that there is agreement that the 2013 results are appropriate for valuing the ETS scenarios for 2013 and 2014.

I'm sorry, this is sort of a variation on a theme that Board Staff went through with you, and there was some extensive answers on this.  I am going to ask for two specific scenarios, though.

Assuming that the Board does not want to go through this exercise again, starting next year, for 2015, but rather would want to put a place a tariff that would be reasonable for the next four or five years or so, what would be your views as to which year or years' results should be used for the purposes of the valuation?

You may have had an answer buried in another answer, but I would like it again, if we can do that.

DR. SHAVEL:  Let me start, and then Andy can add or continue.

Probably, I think, it depends on the criteria.

Depending on how the Board weighs consumer -- what we call consumer surplus, producer surplus and the intertie congestion revenue, the answer may well change.  But clearly, '13 and '14, '13 is a better representation for '14 than '15 is, because of step changes on the US side of the equation.

And that is true with and without WCI.  The WCI changes it, but again, as you pointed out, the numbers are marginal, four, five million dollars.  They're not huge.  I'm not minimizing them, but they're small relative to some of the other numbers and small relative to the size of the total market.

So I think it depends on the criteria.  And of course there always is, if things really change, the option in two years, three years to go back and revisit it.

So I think that the short term should be more heavily weighed for that reason, but it also depends on the criteria the Board wants to apply.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

And if one were to want to take a longer-term perspective and base the evaluation on what it is like to be a longer-term view –- that is the situation in Ontario and neighbouring markets -- which year's results would be the most appropriate to use?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Do you mean -- so if -– longer-term view, do you mean sort of putting in a tariff for a long period of time, starting next year, say, 2014, something like that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  That would be one scenario, yes.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I mean, I think almost by definition, you would want to look at the later years of our results.  But I think you would need to be careful that -- that the 2017 results rely to a large extent on certain assumptions about what happens to nuclear generation.

And we don't -- we don't know what's going to happen after those years.  So, you know, I think we've done 2015 and 2017 and 2016 as sort of an average well, but we haven't thought about what happens after 2017, as more nuclear comes back on line.

So it would be -- we'd really be speculating more than we'd be comfortable doing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

DR. SHAVEL:  But I think maybe perhaps -- without making any recommendation, I'm -- 2015 represents a year that has a step change in the US mix -- coal retiring -- and doesn't have the 2017 nuclear refurbishment.

So in some sense, it may be more typical if you had to look forward.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

That's a good time to break.

MS. CONBOY:  Logical break?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  We will break until 10 to 4:00.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 3:26 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:58 p.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I have some questions that talk about intertie congestion revenues versus rents, but it has been covered quite a bit, so I am going to hopefully go very fast.

I'm going to start with Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 1.04 which is also -- we call it Staff No. 87.

And as part of this interrogatory, I believe there is an explanation about how intertie congestion revenue is calculated.  Basically, it's calculated based on volumes and the difference between, one, the price in the export market and, two, the Ontario market price plus the ETS tariff, plus uplift and admin fees, plus what CRA has deemed as friction costs.  Is that a fair summary?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's right.

DR. SHAVEL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then these differences -- the differences arise when there are constraints on the interties, such that prices in the two jurisdictions after friction costs cannot reach an equilibrium.  Is that fair?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Could you repeat that, please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is the differences we're talking about between the two prices occur when there are constraints on the intertie, such that the prices in the two jurisdictions that are trading with one another, presumably, after friction costs cannot reach an equilibrium?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Right, after friction costs and all of the other trading costs, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Actually, I think you went through this.  I'm just putting on the screen here page 6 of the joint witness statement.  It has this table.  I think we have already looked at this before.  It shows your pictorial representation of all of this; right?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, this is actually for the IESO witness.  If I turn the page in the response - I am going to go back to what I am calling Board Staff 87 - and I turn the page, there is a section here I have highlighted under (a) of the answer which talks about the intertie congestion rents and how they're calculated.  And I had a couple of questions about this.

In reading this, we notice that the difference used to determine the revenues is calculated differently than the intertie congestion revenues, and I had a couple of questions about it.

First, it's not the price in the export market that is used, but, rather, the intertie zone price.  Could you explain how this value is determined and why it may be different than the price in the export market?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, I can, and I will try and be simple in my examples, because it can get complicated because we're using the same terms a lot to describe some of the components.

When somebody is transacting power from one jurisdiction to another, they have to, in fact, navigate two markets.  So an export for us is an import in the other jurisdiction.

So when an interface is congested, you could actually see congestion in both the import leg of the deal, as well as the export leg of the deal.

When we talk about Ontario's calculation of intertie congestion, we do that on an hour-ahead basis, and what we look at is the number of economic offers or bids at an interface in a particular hour.

If there's more economic transactions wanting to deliver than what the interface can allow, as I think was mentioned earlier today, we would use the marginal transaction or marginal megawatt to set a price that would be different than Ontario's.

By way of example, somebody who is looking at a New York market price of $100 and an Ontario market price of $50 is saying there is an opportunity to transact and be profitable.

They would be having to bid out of Ontario as an export saying, I'm willing to pay a certain price to get over that line.  And if that line, as a scarce resource, is not able to accommodate all of the people willing to transact at a price greater than that $50 - in other words, I'm willing to pay more than the $50 in Ontario - then congestion will occur.

If that line were 1,000 megawatts, I think in the example earlier, if there was 1,100 megawatts of people wanting to move power at a price greater than $50, then we would set a price higher than $50 at that zone in the Ontario market.

So assume for a moment the last person we could get across was $60, and the next megawatt that you could get across was also $60.00.  We would set in the Ontario-administered market a price of $60 for that intertie zonal clearing price in pre-dispatch.

We take that now $10.00 difference between Ontario's 50 and that intertie price in our market.  There is a $10.00 difference.  Assuming the prices in pre-dispatch and real time are the same, we would settle generators in Ontario at $50 and exporters going out in that hour at $60, and that is where the rent comes in.

At the very same time, New York is doing something else, and they could have in their market, again, that $100 price.  Note that in my example we did not refer to New York market's price as far as the calculation.

When you look at the revenue, as I understand the calculation, it is actually looking at the difference in prices between Ontario's price at $50 and, in fact, the New York's settlement prices at a particular zone.

So where we stop that calculation within our market, there is another component of a transaction, that import leg, that will represent another set of calculations for settlement price for those folks.

So short answer is we determine that congestion, based on bids in our market.  It's not at all related to offers that might be taking place in the New York ISO-administered markets, and we settle the congestion rent based on that calculation I walked through.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Can I follow up?  So in the example, you had Ontario price $50, New York price $100.  You calculated -- I think you were calculating in this particular example the intertie zone price as being $60?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, I did.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then the -- sorry, the market price -- sorry, the export market price that would have been used in CRA's calculation of the intertie congestion revenue calculation is something above $60?

MR. FINKBEINER:  It is my understanding it would be the difference between that Ontario price and that New York price, less the friction costs that were attributed to the deal taking place.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then how -- is there a sense of what the difference is between -- it sounds like the rent price -- or, sorry, the intertie zone price is something less than the market price used for the CRA calculation.  Is there a sense of – A, am I correct, and B, what's the materiality?  How much of a difference is there?

MR. FINKBEINER:  In my example, it was less.  I think you can -- I could contrive examples where it could be greater than or less than, because you're dealing with -- I think we talked about transaction uncertainty before.

Somebody who might have had an opinion that the New York price was going to be $150 may have ultimately bought out of Ontario at, let's say, 80, and then the New York price ultimately in the New York market landed at $75.

In that particular instance in time, they had lost money on the deal, buying at 80, selling at 75.  The example I drew earlier is they made out -- if you just look at the Ontario component, they got out of Ontario at 60, sold at 100.  Absent congestion in the external zone, they actually had some additional potential profit that they could have achieved.

So when we talk about that, it really depends on how well the seams are managed within your own trading portfolio.  They could have had bilaterals that they were trading that insulated them from those risks.

There are a number of different things that they can do, but it is a complex -- I think we agree that it is a complex process that traders go through, and they will use different strategies to manage those risks.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  The second part of the calculation that is referred to in this IR response talks about the Ontario zone pre-dispatch price.  You may have spoken about this in your answer.  I can't remember now.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But in layman's terms, could you explain what this is and why or how this price differs from the Ontario market price that would be used in the intertie congestion revenue calculation that is here that CRA did?

MR. FINKBEINER:  So the pre-dispatch price is an hourly snapshot.  We use the hourly schedule, the pre-dispatched schedule, to set the import and export transactions.

We do not determine congestion pricing at the ties within a given dispatch hour.  We use that pre-dispatch hourly mechanism to determine, A, if there is congestion on the interface, and then, B, what is the level of that congestion as far as a price differential?

So that pre-dispatch, it looks a lot like real time, but instead of using a five-minute snapshot, it looks like an hour.

And in that pre-dispatch we will come up with an Ontario price.  If there is congestion, an intertie price that is different than the Ontario price.  That delta, we use to lock in the congestion for transactions that flow across that specific interface for that hour.

So when you go, then, to the real time price, the HOEP that is referenced here, the HOEP for that same hour would be the average, the simple average of the five-minute interval uniform clearing prices in that dispatch hour.

Not the same as the pre-dispatch Ontario price, because it is -- it has different assumptions in it and different methodology in its calculation.

The only thing we take from pre-dispatch is that intertie congestion component, that set congestion amount.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm going to take a flyer here to see if I understood that last bit.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I think you're saying that the difference between the -- I'm not even going to -- you talk about the delta between your pre-dispatch price and the actual intertie, what actually happens at the intertie when there is actual congestion, and that delta.

That sub-component is tacked on to another price?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  So when we settle transactions, when the transaction actually goes to settlement --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Mm-hmm?

MR. FINKBEINER:  -- they are charged or paid the Ontario five-minute uniform price.  And absent congestion.

Where congestion is present in the pre-dispatch, they are charged or paid that five-minute uniform price, plus this ICP, this predetermined congestion amount that comes from pre-dispatch.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That is the Ontario zone pre-dispatch price?

MR. FINKBEINER:  It's -- the ICP is the difference between the Ontario zone and the intertie zone in the ISO-administered markets.  That ICP is the delta between those two components.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

Now, finally -- and I guess this is also for you -- is the calculated amount for intertie congestion revenue as determined by CRA more likely to be equal to or greater than or less than the amount of intertie congestion rent as determined by the IESO under similar system circumstances?

So it is the broad question.

We've heard about the revenue calculation.  We've heard about the rent calculation.  You helped me with some of the sub-components, but on a sort of a global scale, what's the difference between the two, in terms of calculation?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I haven't done any of that analysis.

Like I mentioned earlier, you can make examples where it goes either way, where it could be greater than, less than or equal to.  So we haven't done any of that analysis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

Now, back to CRA, quickly, hopefully.  Going to page 24 of the study, so this is at Exhibit H1, tab 5, schedule 2, appendix B.

Here, you explain that:

"Intertie congestion revenue occurs when there is congestion in an export intertie, such that the price paid by exporters to the IESO is greater than the IESO pays producers.  As I understand it, these amounts are not included in the calculation of producer/consumer surplus, but they are assumed to accrue to Ontario, and therefore included in the calculation of the overall change of Ontario surplus, as noted at the top of page 25."

25 of the report, which is page 33 of the exhibit.

Is that fair?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then if I turn up page 27 of the CRA study, where you set out the change in surplus calculations for the unilateral elimination scenario -- which I believe we have gone through already today with other examiners -- is it fair to say that the intertie congestion revenue is a material piece of the overall calculation?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that without the intertie congestion revenue, in this example in particular, the $17.6 million surplus for 2013 would become negative, and the negative surpluses for 2015 and 2017 would all increase; is that correct?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  So the total Ontario surplus would go down and they would all be negative.  And some more negative, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, if I go back to No. 87, so Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 1.04, it is explained there in general -- I am going to put it up on the screen, but I am paraphrasing from that exhibit.

It is explained there when the IESO actually collects, what the IESO actually collects is the intertie congestion rents, which I've got a pretty detailed description of how that is calculated.  Thank you very much again.

And if I go over to the next IR response, which is No. 88 -- and here's where I'm trying to cut down, because some of this has been covered -- that's Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 1.05, response to part (a) states that:

"These rents are for the most part paid out to

transmission rights holders."

And now -- and I think this has been touched on earlier this morning -- to the extent that not all transmission rights holders are in Ontario, is it fair to say that not all intertie congestion rents are accruing to Ontarians?

I think that is obvious.

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I am going to turn up VECC IR No. 53(a), so this is Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 5.13.

We asked you to provide the actual intertie congestion revenues related to exports and to provide the portion of it that accrued to Ontario.

The answer provided annual values for total congestion rents collected, both exports and imports, but not the amount accruing to Ontario.

And then during the technical conference -- and this is -- I am going to paraphrase.  I won't pull it up, but it's pages 8 to 9 of the technical conference transcript.  Mr. Finkbeiner explained that this information is not readily available.

However, can you confirm that at least some of this revenue will accrue to parties outside of Ontario?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Without actually looking at the TR holders and their various places of origin, I can't confirm that.  But it is likely the case, I think is a fair statement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So for example, for the sake of argument, we assume that at least one of the holders is outside of Ontario.  And they're getting some portion of these total amounts, and some of it is going outside of Ontario?

MR. FINKBEINER:  We have an intervenor in Quebec, for example, here today.  If they hold one right and it got paid out, then that would be a true statement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But to the extent that that is happening, there's no quantification?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I have no quantification of that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

For CRA, therefore, would it be reasonable to assume that in calculating the change in Ontario surplus, less than 100 percent of the changed intertie congestion revenue should be attributed to Ontario?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  That's under the assumption that at least one TR right is held by somebody outside of Ontario.  Sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I think -- is it a reasonable assumption?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Sorry, which assumption?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, let me put it this way.

In your calculations, in your modelling, you have assumed that 100 percent of the intertie congestion revenues are staying in Ontario?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think we have demonstrated that that is -- I'm not going to say it is 100 percent not true, but it's 99 percent not true.  We don't know the extent of it, but some of that is going outside of Ontario, probably?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, I don't know.  I mean...

I mean, there has been some speculation, but if you are right, you know, from, you know -- as a matter of pure arithmetic, if some rights holders are outside of Ontario, then yes, some of that rent might go outside of Ontario.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I wanted to briefly touch on this table 3.2 that has been referred to.  This is page 155 of the Market Surveillance Panel report that is included in the APPrO compendium, I believe.  I don't have the exhibit number handy.

This is where I was saying to somebody at the break that it is better if we'd done the examinations by cross-examiners that understand it the least than the ones that understand it the most, because I have some more basic questions about this table than maybe you have already gone through.  I'm looking at this table and trying to understand what is actually happening here, and I am going to use the annual amounts, which is I think what Mr. Finkbeiner was using in explaining some of the aspects of this table.

My understanding is that transmission right holders become that by paying the auction revenue in the last column.  So over this period, $271 million was paid by people who became transmission rights holders?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And for that, I guess we call that a type of investment?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's one way of putting it, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And their return on the investment over this same period -- let's assume it was one person.  That is obviously not the case, but if this were one person and they were the ones who spent $271 million over this period, their return on investment was $564.7 million?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That would be correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And, in theory, at some level in theory, that total amount is supposed to be paid by the congestion rent that is collected, which is in this case $414.6 million, but there is obviously a shortfall?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That would be consistent with the MSP recommendation we discussed earlier.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say "consistent", not the fact that it's the congestion rent which first goes to pay for it.  It is the theory it should be calculated or it should be -- circumstances should be set out going forward that try to do that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's what the MSP has recommended in that recommendation.  It is not the current design of the market, as far as the TR rent right allocation.

Right now, we do have an allocation that is purposely doing this, so it is the MSP's recommendation and that's what we're going to study.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say purposely doing that, what you're saying is it is set up right now so that purposefully what happens is the payouts are in excess of the rent that is collected?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  This is the part I don't understand.  It's probably a simple answer there.  Can you explain to me why that is the case?  Is there a simple answer?

MR. FINKBEINER:  If I just give you an example, if the overselling of rights as the MSP has identified creates a more liquid trading environment where you're getting more transactions and perhaps greater efficiencies, it may be -- have the benefit of that may have far exceeded the $150 million shortfall that you could point back to consumers.

If the benefit of overselling the rights created transactions that ultimately gave you $200 million in efficiencies, then not paying out that $150 million would be a good deal.

The question is whether or not that is actually showing up as a true efficiency where we should continue with this practice, or do we want to review the practice and maybe change to a different design altogether or, consistent with the MSP recommendation, make the rights and rents equal.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, when you talk about efficiencies, so basically this is the system right now.  It's supposed to create efficiencies.  Where exactly would those efficiencies show up?  I mean, clearly they're not designed to show up in this calculation.

MR. FINKBEINER:  No, they would not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Where would they show up?  How would they be realized?

MR. FINKBEINER:  There are a number of places where it could be realized, and we have not started to identify where this analysis will take us.

So this is something we're starting in Q2, but it could be everything from global adjustment cost, uplift cost, pricing allocations within the province.  There are a number of factors that you would look into.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm talking about the current regime here.  This graph or this table represents the current regime?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Presumably there was a justification for entering into that current regime.  Is there something, a reference you could point to that --


MR. FINKBEINER:  Not at this point.  We don't have any of that in evidence.  It was a design decision back in approximately 2006, by memory.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I'm hesitant, but I think I am going to ask if we can get an undertaking to provide that, just so there is something on the record for why this is the case.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Assuming that -- sorry, I am assuming that that decision anticipated there would be this shortfall, it was done intentionally, and there is an explanation for what was anticipated to happen out of that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Absolutely, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I will ask for that undertaking.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J2.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO PROVIDE REASON FOR DECISION TO CREATE STABILIZATION ACCOUNT AND ITS INTENDED PURPOSE.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  We are clear on what that is going to -- what you are asking for?  Is it a specific study or a decision point?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I was taking it to mean the decision as to why we are -- we created what we call the stabilization account and its intended purpose.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's exactly it.  Thank you.

Now, back to CRA.  I am going to go to page 20 of the CRA study, and this is table 3.  So starting with this exhibit, you will see I have highlighted the unilateral elimination scenario.  And, in particular, starting with the 2013 number, I have highlighted the number 5.643 million megawatt-hours.  Do you see that?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And this is a change in exports relative to the status quo for 2013 as a result of that particular scenario; correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, if we turn to VECC No. 54(b), so the exhibit number is Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 5.14, VECC 54.  I am at page 2 of 2.

We see a change in the -- we see for the same scenario, unilateral elimination, excluding wheel-throughs.  We see a change in exports of virtually the same megawatt-hours, so 5.643 million.  Do you see that?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Based on that comparison, is it fair to say that the change in exports in 2013 under the unilateral elimination scenario comes almost entirely from Ontario production?  I say that because this table is a table that excludes wheel-throughs, which should leave you with Ontario production.

DR. SHAVEL:  Any change here is due to a tariff reduction, because a wheel-through will pay the tariff, as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think what I'm getting at, the first table I showed you was the total.

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The total impact on exports as a result of projected, I guess, impact on exports if you use the unilateral elimination scenario.

This interrogatory response nets out the wheel-through impact, and the number is almost the same.

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay?  So my conclusion from that is that the impact in 2013 on exports as a result of implementing the unilateral elimination, the impact is contained almost entirely to Ontario exports, because there is no apparent or material impact on wheel-through?

DR. SHAVEL:  Sourced in Ontario.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I am right on that?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, if we look at the results for 2015, I see a total change in exports under the unilateral elimination scenario of just under 800,000 megawatt-hours, and I can -- you can see the 793,426 under 2015.

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then back to the VECC interrogatory, the change in exports, including wheel-throughs, is just under 80,000 megawatt-hours, which means that in 2015 roughly 90 percent of the increase in exports under the unilateral elimination scenario comes from imports wheeled through Ontario?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So in 2013, almost all the impact of the change is Ontario production, sourced in Ontario, and then in 2015, 90 percent of the impact is wheel-throughs?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Going to page 27 of the study, table 7, again Exhibit H1, tab 5, schedule 2, appendix B.

I would like to understand where or how an increase in exports supported by wheel-through imports would affect the change in surplus calculation.

So starting at the top of the page - I will see if I can get it up here - would an increase in exports that was derived entirely from imports impact on the value for the HOEP?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Sorry?

DR. SHAVEL:  No, it should not --


DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Sorry, I didn't catch that.

DR. SHAVEL:  So your question was:  Should wheel-throughs impact the HOEP?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I think the question is:  If you increase the export activity but the reason it is increasing is because there's an offsetting increase in importing activity, would that have an impact on HOEP?

DR. SHAVEL:  The way it can impact the HOEP is if it congests, the power is not staying in Ontario, but if the power is passing through Ontario and loads up an interface, it will tend to reduce the HOEP.  So if it causes congestion.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If it cause -- first, are you're saying it might cause congestion?

DR. SHAVEL:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if it does, it would affect the HOEP?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Under that scenario, it would drive the HOEP down?

DR. SHAVEL:  It would drive the HOEP down.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are there scenarios where it might drive the HOEP up?

I'm not suggesting there are.  I am just asking because you might know.

DR. SHAVEL:  Well, I guess it is potentially a wheel-through could also reduce congestion by -- by going counter to the otherwise prevailing flow.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you confirm that uplift revenues would increase by the amount of increased exports times the assumed uplift charge of $3.33?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's right, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then on the producer side
-- sorry, before I leave the consumer side, am I correct that there would be no effect on the change in ETS revenues?

And I guess that is because this is the unilateral elimination scenario, and under this scenario there is no ETS.

DR. SHAVEL:  Right.  So this is the difference going from -- I mean, would a wheel-through change the ETS revenue in the case where --


MR. BUONAGURO:  There isn't one?

DR. SHAVEL:  -- there isn't one?  It would not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, on the producer side, would I be correct in saying producer impacts would be an equivalent offsetting amount to global adjustment impacts on the consumer side?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Can you give us a second?

DR. SHAVEL:  Can you just give us a second?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

[Dr. Baziliauskas and Dr. Shavel confer]


DR. SHAVEL:  Could you please clarify?  Thanks.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  I may have muddled it a little bit.

You confirmed on my first part of the question that there could be an impact on the HOEP?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  As a result of wheel-through activity?

DR. SHAVEL:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that if that's the case, then there would be an impact on the global adjustment.

DR. SHAVEL:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And if -- my understanding is that now this comes from the earlier -- my understanding comes from listening to you earlier today.

Any effect on the global adjustment on the consumer side here would be offset by a global adjustment on the producer side?

DR. SHAVEL:  But the -- I think -- and Andy could clarify this -- the producer side is the non-prescribed OPG hydro, which is not affected by global adjustment.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Well, but the -- sorry.  I mean, I think the answer -- I mean, it is right by definition, you know, dollar.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If you're looking on the table here, you have 97.8 on global adjustment on the consumer surplus side calculation, and then an offsetting one on the global adjustment.

I am just confirming that that holds true even when impacted by wheel-throughs.  And either it does or it doesn't.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Sorry.  A second please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

[Dr. Baziliauskas and Dr. Shavel confer]


DR. SHAVEL:  No.  I think it shouldn't matter whether it is a wheel-through or whether it's...

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  So if it impacts the global adjustment on the one part of the calculation, it will impact it in an offsetting way on the other?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

To the extent increased exports sourced from imports
-- so wheel-throughs -- impact on the market price, this would impact the market revenues for producers for all their production?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then before we leave the "market revenue" line, we were looking at the results shown here for 2013, and noted that consumer market payments only increased by $90.7 million, but market revenues to producers increased by $275.9 million.  So roughly three times more.

I was wondering if you could explain to me who is paying the other $185.2 million in revenues?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  You mean the difference between the increase to producers and the -- its exports?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So export customers, whoever is buying the exported inventory?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.  Yes, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And just to confirm, do the market revenues from increased exports shown here include revenues from both the exports that are sourced from Ontario production and exports sourced from wheel-through imports?

[Dr. Shavel and Dr. Baziliauskas confer]

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Sorry, can you give us a second, please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

[Dr. Baziliauskas and Dr. Shavel confer]


DR. SHAVEL:  Just Ontario production.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, if I move down to the second-last line, which is "production cost increase," is this just the increase in costs to Ontario producers?

Or does it also include the cost of increased -- increased imports used to meet increased exports, so increased import costs to meet increased exports?

DR. SHAVEL:  It would just be the production costs in this case.  For a wheel-through, it would not be counted in here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So wouldn't it be the case that the calculation does not recognize any market costs associated with any change in imports used to support or source the change in exports?  To the extent -- or, sorry, for example, to the extent that the exports here would be supported by increased imports, that cost isn't in the calculation?

DR. SHAVEL:  The actual -- well, the cost of the import, that's correct.

This is only a production cost that would occur -- if there's a wheel-through, there would be no change in generation in Ontario.  So there would be no change in production costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  But there would be a cost to bring in the energy into Ontario?  That's not included in the calculation?

DR. SHAVEL:  There would be a cost of generating that power outside the province, that's not included.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Last topic for the CRA panel, I'm sure you will be glad to hear -- and I am well within my 90 minutes, I will just note.

And it has to do with the uplift costs -- I'm sorry, the treatment of uplift revenues.

Page 23 of the CRA study, it talks here about the uplift revenue, and it says here that you held the uplift rate constant, and assumed that any increase or decrease in total export volumes would lead to a corresponding increase or decrease in uplift revenues, and that all of this increase accrues to Ontario and is included in the change in Ontario's surplus calculation.  Does that sound right?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then I talked about this in the technical conference, and I give you -- the page reference was page 10, which I can pull it up.

I believe it was acknowledged at the technical conference by Mr. Finkbeiner that the uplift costs of running the system don't change materially with imports or exports.  As a result -- so that, as a result, what would more likely happen is that an increase in exports would mean greater volumes to spread the costs over, such that the unit rate would go down.  That's actually technical conference page 11, lines 6 to 15.

Now, because of that, am I correct in saying that this happens because both sales to Ontario customers and exports have levered the uplift fee?  Everybody pays the fee?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Any consumer pays the fee.  What this response indicates is that the bulk of our uplifts are related to charges that we incur with or without exports, meaning ancillary services, operating reserve, congestion management settlement credits, those sorts of things.

So to the extent an export isn't contributing to congestion, internal where -- constrained settlement management credits or given its volume of congestion, we still have to recover that amount of money, and that recovery comes from the consumers in Ontario if you had zero exports.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If the per megawatt-hour uplift fee goes down because export volumes increase, isn't it true that the total uplift charges would go down for both Ontario consumers and the base exports that were already occurring?

MR. FINKBEINER:  To make sure I understand your question, the volume of dollars -- so let's assume - just throw a number out - $100 million.  If we had to collect $100 million, Ontario consumers' portion of that $100 million would not be the same.  It would be smaller if we had 50 percent more exports than if we had 50 percent less.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. FINKBEINER:  So as you export, you are taking on some obligation to pay for that $100 million.  So as you increase exports, the less that Ontarians have to pay for.  But you're still collecting $100 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So in terms of relative to the -- I guess the status quo, if you had -- for 2013 you had a projection of uplift fees and uplift charges, and all you did was add exports, the people who you would -- all you did was increase exports as a result of one of the scenarios that we're talking about, the existing Ontario consumers and the existing exporters are going to get a reduced fee?

They're going to pay less, because you're spreading it out --


MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  You're sharing it over a broader audience.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thanks.  Now, I have one last question.  I just want to make sure I get it right.

Can you tell us, for each of the years 2013, 2015 and 2017, what proportion of the total kilowatt hours are associated with Ontario consumers versus the pre-existing export customers?  Do you understand the question?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I think so, but can you --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  For each of the years 2013, 2015 and 2017, what proportion of the total kilowatt hours are associated with Ontario consumers versus pre-existing export customers?

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  We don't...

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess the base case number of kilowatt hours, there's a split between exporters and Ontario consumers.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  You mean of production?  So the denominator is production in Ontario?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I believe that would be the case.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  And what proportion is domestic load and what proportion is exports?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Exports.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  I can give you an approximate number.  I don't think we have that number in the report, but it's --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can take it by way of an undertaking.  I am not going to follow up right now.  I just need the numbers.

DR. BAZILIAUSKAS:  Okay, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I will take an undertaking.

DR. SHAVEL:  Let me just clarify.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  If we can identify that undertaking as J2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO ADVISE WHAT PROPORTION OF THE TOTAL KILOWATT HOURS ARE ASSOCIATED WITH ONTARIO CONSUMERS VERSUS THE PRE-EXISTING EXPORT CUSTOMERS FOR EACH OF THE YEARS 2013, 2015 AND 2017.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  If you can clarify it?  Sorry, go ahead, Dr. Shavel.

DR. SHAVEL:  Just existing export customers, meaning
-- what did you mean by...

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess you have the status quo.  You have an assumption of total number of kilowatt hours in the province; right?  And, as I have just gone through, if you increase the exports under -- the exports change, right, and things change.

DR. SHAVEL:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Part of that change is going to affect the Ontario consumers and part of the change will affect the existing exporters, so I'm trying to figure out what the break is between Ontario consumers and -- I'm calling them pre-existing export customers.  So your forecast or your assumptions in terms of existing amount of exports --


DR. SHAVEL:  That would be the status quo?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

DR. SHAVEL:  Okay, thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So I am done that part of my cross.  I have a short cross for Elenchus, but I am not sure if you wanted me to do that now.

MS. CONBOY:  I guess it depends on what a short cross for Elenchus means, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That much, two pages.  Not even.

MS. CONBOY:  So you will be done?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I will be done by five for sure, probably more like five minutes.

MS. CONBOY:  Great.  So please go ahead.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So my first question is for Mr. Todd.

In your evidence, you make reference to the OEB having explicitly endorsed the version of the Bonbright principles for rate design in the recovery of electricity distribution costs.  That is at page 4, which I can pull up for you, the top of the page.

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And is it fair to say that it is the use of these principles that leads you to suggest that ETS rates should be based on cost causality and a cost allocation study?  I get that from page 5 of your report.

MR. TODD:  Not exactly.  It's not based on that.  It is based on generally accepted regulatory principles or approach to rate-making in general.  This is one example of it, and links it to the Board's acceptance of the Bonbright principles.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I have highlighted lines 10 to 13 of the report.  I think you're talking about the second part of the sentence.  You're saying:
"... it is a core principle that guides the setting of just and reasonable rates in all applications of economic regulation, including the setting of the ETS tariff."


MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, I have noticed from your CV, and I won't put it up, because I don't have it cited properly in my computer program here, but your past assignments have included work in the electricity sectors in British Columbia, Manitoba, Quebec, Nova Scotia and New Brunswick?

MR. TODD:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would it be fair to say these same Bonbright principles are used in these jurisdictions, as well?

MR. TODD:  Yes.  I use them, and regulators appear to accept them across all jurisdictions across Canada.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are cost allocation studies generally used in these jurisdictions to determine the costs to be recovered from the various domestic customer classes served by the utilities in each of these provinces?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I asked in VECC number 3c - I will put that up for you - if HQEM was aware of any Canadian utility that used a cost allocation study with exports as a separate class to inform the derivation of its transmission tariffs?

The response indicated no, and then referenced Board Staff IR No. 2, which discusses Manitoba Hydro.  Do you recall that?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I would like to clarify the no in this response.  Am I right that you are not aware of any Canadian utility that currently uses a cost allocation study with exports as a separate class to underpin its transmission tariffs for export service?

MR. ROGER:  If I can clarify, I think the question was if Elenchus has performed such a cost allocation study, and that was when we said no.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that is why I am asking for clarification.  Are you aware of any Canadian utility that currently uses a cost allocation study with exports as a separate class to underpin the transmission tariffs for export service?

MR. ROGER:  In our research, it turned out Manitoba Hydro does a cost allocation study where they have export as a separate customer class.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now -- hmm.

This is the Manitoba Hydro case that is referred to in Staff IR No. 2?

MR. ROGER:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, I can pull that up.

Now, you can confirm for me that this study has not been reviewed or adopted yet by the Manitoba Public Utilities Board?

MR. TODD:  The study is proposing some changes.  The approach in Manitoba, of course, predates this.  There is an existing -- as I referred to earlier, an existing Manitoba Hydro tariff that relates to exports, which is addressed in -- the cite we're using is Order 117.06 from August 2nd, 2006.  It is addressed in that case for example.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to make sure I understand.

My understanding of the current Manitoba case is that -- and -- is that there may be a proposal with respect to a cost allocation study underpinning that rate, but are you telling me there is an actual cost allocation study underpinning the current rate that the Manitoba -- that Manitoba Hydro has?

MR. TODD:  The previous decision addressed a proposal to create two export classes.

You may have read all of this more closely than I have, but the Board -- in 2006 the Board rejected two export classes, and gave reasons for that, and retained the existence of one export class.

One of the issues being raised in the current study is raising that issue again with a different rationale, proposing to make those changes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. TODD:  But there has been one export class.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you confirm for me that the purpose of Manitoba Hydro's cost allocation study is to address the issue of cost responsibility for the province's domestic customer classes and not export customers?

MR. TODD:  I wouldn't say that is exclusively it.

It -- it does address the export class, as well.  Therefore, it is both.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am going to turn to Exhibit I, 23, 1.02, which is Staff 85, attachment 1.  It is the CRA review of rates in neighbouring markets, which I referred to earlier in my cross of CRA.

Are you familiar with that material?

MR. ROGER:  We have it in front of us, but we haven't reviewed it in detail.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me ask you this.  I am going to turn to appendix 1.  Well -- which is on the screen.

Can you confirm that transmission tariffs in the MISO, of which Manitoba Hydro is a member, are set using the average cost of transmission?

MR. TODD:  We did not conduct or review these issues.  Our mandate was quite different from CRA.  So our evidence is essentially -- or our knowledge is essentially the CRA evidence.  So if it says it in the CRA, we accept that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then I am going to turn to page 17.

Are you able to confirm that in MISO the transmission rates for firm and non-firm service are the same?

MR. TODD:  Based on the CRA evidence, we accept that as accurate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you provide -- what I am getting from your answers on this specific example is that the exports' class rates or transmission tariffs are set on the basis of the cost allocation study.

Can you provide us more specific reference to that, that idea?

MR. TODD:  Sorry, can you ask that question again?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I mean, you seem to be suggesting that in Manitoba there is an export class, and that export class has its rates based on a cost allocation study.

And quite frankly, we're not sure that that is the case.  So I am asking you for a specific reference that shows us that, that that is the case.

Do you want to take that as an undertaking?  Or am I incorrect in my understanding of your answer on this particular point?

MR. TODD:  I have not done a detailed review or we have not done a detailed review of the Manitoba Hydro cost allocation model.

My understanding of it is that they do, through the cost allocation model, come up with costs for the export class.  If -- I think you have the -- or do you have the August 2nd, 2006 decision that you could throw up on the screen?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that the one I distributed last week?  Is that what you're talking about?

MR. ROGER:  Yes.

MR. TODD:  I believe so, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I certainly should have it.  I just have to find it.

MR. TODD:  If you can turn to page 76 of that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mr. Buonaguro, do we need to make this an exhibit if this was filed separately?

MR. BUONAGURO:  It was filed separately.  It is a Board order from another jurisdiction, but I am happy to have it as an exhibit.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Let's make that Exhibit K2.7.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.7:  AUGUST 2ND, 2006 MANITOBA DECISION.

MR. TODD:  I see it is up now, and you have highlighted paragraph A.  I would note paragraph B, which states:
"Costs, including direct, indirect, fixed and variable costs, are to be allocated to the export customer class in a manner that reflects cost causation, similar to the methodologies applied to the domestic customer classes.  In particular, costs directly assigned to the export customer class are to include 'trading desk' related costs, MAPP and MISO costs, thermal plant costs, water rental and purchased power costs, and other costs that are directly attributable to export sales."

I read that as being part of the cost allocation study, recognizing, of course, that exports in the case of Manitoba Hydro include both generation costs as well as costs of export related to transmission, and so on.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So this is what you're relying on?

MR. TODD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
Procedural Matters:


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

Before we break for the day, I was wondering if I could canvass the room as to the cross-examination for Mr. Laurin, who is coming tomorrow.

I don't have -- I don't have estimates on times or whether parties do have cross-examination for Mr. Laurin.  So perhaps people could advise me.

Okay.  I am corrected.  There is an original estimate for Mr. Laurin of AMPCO, 10 minutes, CME, 10 minutes, Schools, 15, VECC, 15, Board Staff, 15 minutes.

Do those seem to be still reasonable?  Okay.  So I will take that as a "so far they seem reasonable."

And we will break now until 9:30 tomorrow morning.

And I think, Mr. Rubenstein, you will be kicking off the day's cross-examination?  I beg your pardon?

MR. VEGH:  Sorry.  I think I am next in line for cross-examination.

MS. CONBOY:  Oh, are you?  Okay.  I will correct that on my sheet, then.

Sorry, Mr. Vegh.  You can start the day off tomorrow, then.  Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:57 p.m.
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